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About the 
InstItute

established in 1963, the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants of singapore 
(ICPAs) is the national accountancy body 
that develops, supports and enhances 
the integrity, status and interests
of the profession.

ICPAS’ international outlook and connections are reflected in its 
membership of regional and international professional organisations 
like the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), International 
Innovation network (IIn), ASeAn Federation of Accountants, and 
Asia-oceania Tax Consultants’ Association.

The Institute also caters for the training and professional development 
of its members through regular courses conducted by its education 
arm, SAA global education (SAA-ge). established in 1985 with 
a mission to train and equip students and CPAs with the best 
professional skills to enable them to be valued by the business 
community, SAA-ge has trained thousands of individuals to upgrade 
their education and career knowledge through various academic 
and continuing professional education (CPe) programmes. There 
are currently close to 6,000 part-time and full-time students studying 
at SAA-ge. Among them are students from Singapore, China, 
Indonesia, myanmar, the Philippines, vietnam, and other countries 
across the Asia Pacific.

ICPAS is also the partner of the ICPAS/ACCA Joint examination 
Scheme (JeS).The Scheme has been successfully run by ICPAS and 
ACCA since 1983, and thousands of JeS students have graduated 
and gone on to rewarding careers.

The Certified Public Accountant Singapore (CPA Singapore) is a 
professional in accountancy, finance and business who has the 
relevant work experience in addition to a recognised accountancy 
qualification. CPAs Singapore serve every corner of the world across 
every industry. many of them helm some of the foremost local and 
international corporations.

CPA Singapore is a distinctive brand valued by employers and 
members. employers recognise the designation as the definitive 
standard for measuring competence and excellence in the fields of 
accounting, finance and business.

ICPAS accords the CPA Singapore designation. working alongside 
businesses, ICPAS connects its members to an unmatched range 
of information resources, events, professional development and 
networking opportunities. Presently, there are close to 25,000 
members making their stride in businesses across all industries in 
Singapore and around the world.
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MessAge froM the AdvIsor

DeAR MeMBeRs,

2011 was a significant year for the Institute. I would like to take 
this opportunity to commend our members for embarking on 
several bold initiatives during the year. These initiatives, such as 
the constitutional changes and organisational restructuring of the 
Institute, clearly reflect the collective desire and commitment of 
our members to transform the Institute and ensure that it remains 
relevant and capable of meeting new demands and challenges as 
we forge ahead.  

As the national accountancy body, the Institute has a key role to play 
in helping the accountancy sector and promoting its development. 
The accountancy sector is a key component of Singapore’s 
professional services industry.  Since 2000, the sector has grown 
at a double-digit compound annual growth rate on the export of its 
professional services to the region.  

with its strategic location, Singapore is also suitably poised to ride 
on the growth of the region.  The Asia Pacific is the fastest-growing 
region for the global accountancy networks, with its accountancy 
market forecasted to reach uS$38.3 billion by 2013. This 
represents a strategic window of opportunity for the accountancy 
sector in Singapore.
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I am heartened to note that our membership base has grown steadily 
and reached close to 25,000 members. our growing membership 
shows that members see relevance in being part of a national 
accountancy body and is an affirmation of the value they see in 
the CPA Singapore designation. However, there is more work ahead.

I would like to encourage you, as members, to support the Institute 
in its efforts and continue to develop the profession together.  

Thank you and have a fruitful year ahead.

Teo Ser luck 
Advisor 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore
minister of State for Trade and Industry 

The Institute should therefore work closely with all stakeholders to 
ensure that Singapore is well positioned to seize and help shape 
the growth opportunities for this sector in Singapore as well as in 
the region. This is crucial to help sustain the growth of Singapore’s 
economy and its status as a leading global financial centre and 
business hub.

A key focus for the Institute over the next year will be to prepare 
for its role as the administrator of the Qualification Programme. 
This will be critical to its successful implementation as a globally 
recognised qualification, and Singapore’s efforts to be a global 
accountancy hub. As the Institute steps up its focus to play this 
heightened role as the national accountancy body, it will continue 
to spend effort towards delivering greater value to its members.  

“Creating value for our members”, is a key underpinning that 
ICPAS continually strives to deliver throughout the organisation.   
The Institute’s concerted focus on this bed-rock is critical in 
establishing ICPAS’ integral role as the national accountancy body 
for Singapore.  Afterall, ICPAS is about its members. As such, the 
Institute has been busy throughout the year conducting events, 
seminars, and discussion groups serving the needs of all our 
members.  

The Institute will continue to serve as the voice of the profession by 
raising issues of concern to the profession and providing feedback 
to the relevant bodies and agencies. It will also continue with 
its efforts to help develop its members as top-notch accounting 
professionals across varied and diverse industry segments. 
Increasingly the role of audit and accounting is seen taking a 
more prominent role in industries outside the usual banking and 
financial realm.
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laying the foundation for our global expansion, ICPAS also 
expanded and revised our operational structure. The new divisions 
and departments will provide improved specific capabilities across 
the Institute. In particular, we established two new divisions – 
Policy & Strategic Planning, and Industry development. The 
Policy & Strategic Planning division will provide greater traction for 
engagement with our key stakeholders and also help spearhead 
policy development for the accountancy profession at the national 
and global levels. The Industry development division will work to 
engage key stakeholders in the profession, and this includes the 
Small & medium-sized Practitioners (SmPs). The two divisions will 
also work on fortifying ties with our international counterparts. 

In 2011, we also worked on formulating our Strategic Plan 2012 
which sets the strategic direction for the Institute. This Strategic 
Plan builds upon our AIm (Accountancy excellence, Industry 
growth, and Member / Human Capital development) objectives 
first revealed three years ago.

one of our focus areas continues to be providing resources for 
professional development. To this end, the ICPAS CPe department 
set in motion the Structured Audit Core Training (SACT) matrix last 
April. The SACT provides a holistic and systematic framework to 
aid the development of SmPs by enhancing audit quality. This is 
done through the formalisation of best practices in audit planning, 
audit testing, audit completion and audit reporting. 

over the course of the year, we championed many technical 
seminars and thought leadership forums. one of the signature 
events was the Singapore Accountancy Convention 2011, which 
brought together a record number of some 30 distinguished 
thought leaders from across the globe. more than 1,000 delegates 
and guests attended the gala dinner and convention held on 
3 and 4 november respectively. The privilege of having minister of 
State for Finance and Transport mrs Josephine Teo and minister of 
State for Trade and Industry and ICPAS Advisor mr Teo Ser luck 
as the guest of honour for the convention and dinner reflected the 
national importance of ICPAS.

SAA global education (SAA-ge), our education arm, was awarded 
the full eduTrust Certification by the Council for Private education. 
This is an acknowledgement of the continuing efforts ICPAS takes 
to provide the highest possible standards in the private education 
sector. 

during the year, the Institute adopted an international outlook 
as it engaged with international organisations and participated 
in international events. In January 2011, we played host to 
a worldwide network of major accountancy bodies for the 
International Innovation network (IIn) Conference in Singapore. 
The event provided a good platform for representatives of the 
member institutes to share ideas, knowledge and experiences.

MessAge froM the PresIdent

DeAR CPAs singAPore AND FeLLOw PROFessIONALs, 

Against the backdrop of debt problems in europe, 2011 was a 
year of economic uncertainty and volatility. while Singapore, 
as a global financial centre, was not immune to changes in the 
global environment, the economic impact was moderated by 
the installation of sound fiscal measures and prudent economic 
policies. Amid this challenging scenario, the Institute continued 
to see good growth in our membership base. As of december 
2011, we have close to 25,000 members – an increase of about 
7.5% over the previous year.

In 2011, we intensified our efforts to develop our infrastructure 
and re-aligned our strategic direction. The theme for this annual 
report, “building on Firm Foundations”, reflects this focus. during 
the year, we worked at ensuring that we had the right structure and 
the appropriate internal capabilities to best meet our growth plans. 

with these firm foundations in place, we began focusing on 
cementing new partnerships, including stepping up efforts 
in engaging the accounting industry and formalising strategic 
alliances with key stakeholders locally, and at the regional and 
international levels. 

In view of our goal to develop into a global body, we carried out 
an extensive strategic review of our Constitution, during which we 
sought the views of our key stakeholders. we then sought members’ 
consent on the proposed amendments to our Constitution at an 
extraordinary general meeting in August. I am very heartened 
that close to 90% of the members present at the meeting voted 
in support of the amendments. my Council members and I are 
grateful for this resoundingly positive mandate, which confirms 
strong support from our members, for the direction the Institute 
is taking.
 
These constitutional changes represent enhancements to the 
Institute’s existing governance arrangements, and touch on areas 
such as composition and mode of electing Council members, 
tenure of the leadership team, appointment of a nominations 
Committee and an Audit Committee, as well as membership 
classification. 

The carefully-calibrated changes in the ICPAS Constitution are 
aligned with the recommendations of the Committee to develop the 
Accountancy Sector (CdAS) to strengthen the Institute’s governance 
structure. These changes are consistent with those of other 
professional accountancy bodies boasting a global membership, 
outlook and standing. with this amended Constitution, we have 
a strengthened constitutional framework that facilitates our future 
development on the international arena.
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In February, the Institute hosted more than 25 international 
delegates representing International Federation of Accountants’ 
(IFAC) Professional Accountancy organization development 
Committee (PAodC) for a two-day conference in Singapore. 
Additionally, in november, the IFAC Council meeting in berlin 
featured ICPAS as the conduit for regulatory developments in 
Asia Pacific. 

In many ways, 2011 represents a landmark year for ICPAS. I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank everyone who played a part in 
the Institute’s many achievements. 

First, I would like to thank ICPAS Advisor mr Teo Ser luck for his 
wise counsel. I would also like to thank the executive Committee and 
fellow Council members for their commitment and dedicated service 
to the Institute. Credit also goes to the Institute’s staff, who have 
worked long and hard to ensure the Institute’s proper development 
and growth. 

last and certainly not least, I would like to say a heartfelt thank 
you to our members, for your involvement in committees and as 
volunteers in our outreach programmes. 

ernest kan
President
Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore
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ICPAs CounCIl MeMbers

mR Teo SeR luCk
ICPAS AdvISoR

1

dR eRneST
kAn yAw kIong
PReSIdenT

2

mR SIToH yIH PIn
vICe PReSIdenT

3

mR STeven PHAn Swee kIm
TReASuReR

4

mR PeTeR CHAy Fook yuen5

In 2011, we intensified our efforts to develop
our infrastructure and re-aligned our strategic 
direction. the theme for this annual report, “building 
on firm foundations”, reflects this focus. during the 
year, we worked at ensuring that we had the right 
structure and the appropriate internal capabilities to 
best meet our growth plans. 

1
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dR Ho yew kee10

mR R. dHInAkARAn6

mR geRARd ee HoCk kIm7

mR don Ho mun-Tuke8

mR Ho TuCk CHuen9

6
7 8
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mR kHoo Ho Tong

mR lIm boon CHeng

mS JeAnn low ngIAP Jong

PRoFeSSoR PAng yAng Hoong

mR TAn boen eng

11

12

13

14

15

ICPAs CounCIl MeMbers

In 2011, we also worked on formulating our
strategic Plan 2012 which sets the strategic direction 
for the Institute. this strategic Plan builds upon our 
AIM (Accountancy excellence, Industry growth, and 
Member / human Capital development) objectives 
first revealed three years ago.
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mS wong lAI yong

PRoFeSSoR gIllIAn yeo HIAn Heng

mR yeoH oon JIn

mS yIm kAm mAy
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PrInCIPAl offICers

mR evAn lAw
ACTIng CHIeF exeCuTIve oFFICeR

mS JAneT TAn
exeCuTIve dIReCToR 
(CoRPoRATe SeRvICeS) 

mR yee CHeok Hong
exeCuTIve dIReCToR
(PolICy & STRATegIC PlAnnIng/ 
InduSTRy develoPmenT) 

mS geoRgInA CHAn
HeAd, exAmInATIonS
And QuAlIFICATIon

sTANDING

seATeD FROM LeFT
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CounCIl rePort

The Council has pleasure in presenting its 2011/2012 Annual Report and Accounts of the Institute for 
the year ended 31 december 2011.

At the first Council meeting held in April 2011, the following Council members were elected as office 
bearers:

The COUNCIL

The 2011/2012 Council held seven ordinary meetings and two special meetings from April 2011 to 
march 2012. Column A indicates the number of Council meetings the member attended; column b 
shows the number of committees he/she sits on.

PResIDeNT eRNesT KAN YAw KIONG

VICe PResIDeNT sITOh YIh PIN

TReAsUReR sTeVeN PhAN swee KIM

A b A b

Peter Chay Fook yuen 7 3 Pang yang Hoong 7 2

gerard ee Hock kim 2 1 Steven Phan Swee kim 2 3

don Ho mun-Tuke 7 2 R. dhinakaran 9 2

Ho yew kee 6 4 Sitoh yih Pin 5 4

Ho Tuck Chuen 8 2 Tan boen eng 8 3

ernest kan yaw kiong 9 3 wong lai yong 7 2

khoo Ho Tong 9 3 gillian yeo Hian Heng 5 3

lim boon Cheng 6 3 yeoh oon Jin 5 3

Jeann low ngiap Jong 2 2 yim kam may 6 1
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stAtIstICAl hIghlIghts

ACTIvITIeS 2009 2010 2011

no. of Committees 30 24 21

no. of meetings 68 59 56

Publications of the Institute 23 27 22

Courses and Talks 250 369 489

Conferences  – 1 1

membeRSHIP

no. of members 21,229 23,109 24,945

Total Subscriptions $ 2,901,900 $ 3,129,390 $ 3,312,741

Total Secretariat’s expenses $ 3,811,103 $ 14,103,165 $ 4,950,405

Total Secretariat’s expenses (without impairment loss) $  – $ 5,694,238 $ 7,553,497

Average Subscription per member1 $ 136 $ 135 $ 133

Average expenses per member $ 179 $ 610 $ 198

Average expenses per member (without impairment loss) $  – $ 246 $ 303

ToTAl Revenue $ 21,420,2812 $ 23,079,9112 $ 24,988,4272

ToTAl exPenSeS $ 16,247,6842 $ 28,382,6562 $ 20,736,9462

ToTAl exPenSeS (without impairment loss) $  – $ 19,973,7292 $ 23,340,0382

SHARe oF PRoFITS / (loSSeS) oF ASSoCIATeS
(neT oF TAx)

$ 8,4522 $ (12,767)2 $ 7,2102

InCome TAx exPenSeS / (CRedIT) $ 864,1422 $ 601,9202 $ (150,074)2

ToTAl SuRPluS/(deFICIT) FoR THe yeAR $ 4,316,9072 $ (5,917,432)2 $ 4,408,7652

1 This is based solely on members’ subscriptions and does not take into account other sources of income
2 Consolidated figure
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MeMbershIP ProfIle

MeMBeRshIP CLAss

2010 2011

members in Practice 4% 4%

members in Retirement 2% 3%

Professional Accountants in business 69% 67%

Provisional members 25% 26%

PROFessION

2010 2011

Accountants / Auditors 21.7% 21.9%

business owners 3.9% 3.4%

C-Suite / executives 8.2% 8.2%

lecturers / Professors 3.2% 2.5%

managers 34.9% 35.9%

Senior management 19.2% 19.2%

others 8.9% 8.9%

AGe (in years)

2010 2011

≤ 30 14% 18%

31–40 44% 38%

41–50 25% 25%

51–60 12% 12%

>60 5% 7%

GeNDeR

2010 2011

male 36% 36%

Female 64% 64%

2011

2011

2011

2011

2010

2010

2010

2010



18  buIldIng on FIRM FOUNDATIONs  AnnuAl RePoRT 2011/2012

At A glAnCe

JANUARY 

11 JAN  ICPAs CLARITY seMINAR PART 4

ICPAS held the last of its Clarity seminars, marking the completion 
of its educational initiatives for the suite of 36 Clarified Singapore 
Standards on Auditing (Clarified SSAs) and Singapore Standard 
on Quality Control 1 (SSQC 1). The ICPAS Clarity Bulletin was also 
launched as a handy and accessible resource for accountancy 
professionals. 

24 JAN  PROGRAMMe FOR NON-exeCUTIVe DIReCTORs

ICPAS and ICAew signed a memorandum of understanding 
(mou) to increase the awareness of the role of non-executive 
directors and align their skills with international best practices and 
regulatory requirements in terms of transparency and corporate 
governance. The partnership will include the development of 
a bespoke training programme for non-executive directors in 
Singapore.

24 TO 26 JAN  IIN sINGAPORe CONFeReNCe 

ICPAS hosted the International Innovation network (IIn) 
Conference, which brought together 13 foreign delegates from a 
global network of accountancy bodies to trade ideas, knowledge 
and experiences to further strengthen the industry. 

24 TO 26 JAN  IFRs FOR sMes

ICPAS was the strategic partner for the event organised by the 
Accounting Standards Council (ASC), which comprised a three-day 
Train-the-Trainers workshop, and a half-day seminar conducted by 
the International Accounting Standards board (IASb). 

FeBRUARY 

10 FeB  ICPAs PRe-BUDGeT 2011 ROUNDTABLe

For the second year running, ICPAS hosted the ICPAS Pre-budget 
2011 Roundtable to gather insights on the budget from prominent 
CPAs Singapore, business leaders and academics. 

14 TO 15 FeB  IFAC PAODC CONFeReNCe

ICPAS hosted the IFAC' Professional Accountancy organization 
development Committee (PAodC) in a two-day conference that 
seeked to further the participation of developing nations in the 
international standard-setting process and create awareness on 
accounting issues specific to these nations. 

At the ICPAS Pre-budget 2011 Roundtable, ICPAS President Dr Ernest 
Kan (left) co-chaired the roundtable with Ms Jessica Tan, Chairman of 
the Government Parliamentary Committee (GPC) for Finance and Trade 
& Industry. 

Programme for Non-executive Directors : The ICPAS-ICAEW MOU 
was signed by ICAEW Director of Member Services Mrs Sharron 
Gunn and ICPAS then Head of Member Services (Current 
ICPAS Acting CEO) Mr Evan Law on the sidelines of the 
International Innovation Network Conference, hosted by ICPAS, 
on 24 January 2011.
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MARCh

22 MAR  VIsIT BY UNITeD NATIONs RePReseNTATIVes

ICPAS President dr ernest kan met mr gerald Pachoud, Special 
Advisor, and ms vanessa Zimmerman, legal Advisor, to the united 
nations Secretary-general’s Special Representative for business 
and Human Rights, for an exchange of ideas on managing business 
and Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) in Singapore. 

APRIL

13 APR  CPA singAPore Is NO. 2 LOCAL BUsINess 
MAGAzINe

ICPAS’ official publication, the CPA Singapore journal, was ranked 
second in the local business magazine category in the 2011 
magazine Rankings Study conducted by boardroom Research and 
commissioned by Marketing magazine.

16 APR  APPOINTMeNT OF New COUNCIL MeMBeRs 

ICPAS welcomed mr Peter Chay, deputy managing Partner, kPmg 
in Singapore; mr Ho Tuck Chuen, group CFo, JTC Corporation and 
dr Ho yew kee, vice dean (Finance and Administration), nuS 
business School, as its Council members.

16 APR  New weBsITes TO BOOsT ACCOUNTANTs’ 
PROFessIONAL DeVeLOPMeNT

At its Agm, ICPAS launched three websites to provide more 
online resources for accountants – ICPASjobs, a portal for jobs in 
accountancy and business, the ICPAS CPe micro site to support 
accountants’ Continuing Professional education and a redesigned 
corporate website featuring a modern look and quick access to 
key content.

MAY

12 MAY  eNRIChING sIATP MeMBeRs

Singapore Institute of Accredited Tax Professionals (SIATP) kicked 
off its first technical group discussion with facilitator mr leung yew 
kwong, Partner, wongPartnership llP. The session highlighted a 
landmark case that questioned the assumption that tax has to be 
withheld on interest rate swap payments in all situations.

24 MAY  seMINAR: FILING OF ReCeIPTs AND PAYMeNTs 
AND PROCeDURes FOR OBTAINING TAx CLeARANCe IN A 
wINDING UP

ICPAS and Insolvency Practitioners’ Association of Singapore 
(IPAS), with the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore (IRAS) as 
strategic partner, jointly organised the seminar, Filing of Receipts 
and Payments and Procedures for obtaining Tax Clearance in a 
winding up. The seminar attracted some 200 participants. 

Visit by United Nations Representatives: (From left) ICPAS Research 
Manager Ms Joyce Tang, UN’s Mr Gerald Pachoud and Ms Vanessa 
Zimmerman, and ICPAS President Dr Ernest Kan exchanged views about 
the state of CSR in Singapore and the world.

30 MAY  CLARITY seMINAR seqUeL

Following the success of the four Clarity Seminars to raise awareness 
and educate the auditing profession on the sailent changes of the 
Clarified Singapore Standards on Auditing (Clarified SSAs), ICPAS 
held a sequel to the seminars, as part of the continuing efforts 
to improve audit quality and address the challenges facing the 
profession in applying the Clarified SSAs. 

JUNe 

PROPOseD ChANGes TO ICPAs CONsTITUTION

ICPAS organised a series of town hall forums in June to seek 
members’ feedback on the proposed amendments to the ICPAS 
Constitution. under recommendations from the Committee 
to develop the Accountancy Sector (CdAS), a review of the 
Constitution was recommended for ICPAS to develop into a 
professional body with a global membership, outlook and standing. 

6 JUN  New MeMBeRs APPOINTeD TO AUDITING AND 
AssURANCe sTANDARDs COMMITTee (AAsC)

mr yeoh oon Jin, Head of Assurance, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
llP was appointed Chairman. mr Shariq barmaky, Professional 
Practice director, deloitte & Touche llP was appointed vice-
Chairman.
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At A glAnCe

JULY

5 JUL  seMINAR: ReVeNUe BUsINess CYCLe – 
PROCesses, RIsKs AND CONTROLs

ICPAS and the Singapore Academy of law collaborated for the first 
time to present the fundamentals, key risks and common controls 
of the revenue business cycle. 

25 JUL  ICPAs-sMU CeO FORUM 

ICPAS and Singapore management university’s School of 
Accountancy Research organised the ICPAS-Smu Ceo Forum, 
leading through uncertainty: key Challenges, Corporate 
Readiness & Strategies Ahead. The forum was a platform for 
high-level business leaders from various industries to network and 
debate pertinent issues they faced in their businesses as well as 
explore how global business and government can work together to 
build sustainable growth models.

26 JUL  PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTs CONFeReNCe 2011 

ICPAS was the strategic partner for the Public Accountants 
Conference 2011 (PAC). At the PAC, ACRA’s “Practice monitoring 
Programme Public Report 2011 was presented. The salient 
findings were jointly presented by ms ng meow ling, Head of 
ACRA Practice monitoring, and ms monica yong, Head of ICPAS’ 
Practice monitoring.

AUGUsT

ICPAs - CIMA COLLABORATe TO OFFeR CeRTIFICATes IN 
IsLAMIC FINANCe

ICPAS’ CPe department began offering the Chartered Institute of 
management Accountants (CImA) Certificates in Islamic Finance. 
The certificate programmes are geared towards participants who 
wish to tap on the burgeoning Islamic Finance market.

11 AUG  PA AwARDs 2011 - The CONsTITUeNCY 
AChIeVeMeNT AwARD

ICPAS gave recognition to 34 of its members serving in the 
People's Association (PA) grassroots organisations (gRos) which 
won the Constituency Achievement Award at the 2011 PA Awards.

ANNUAL CPA GAMes

The 2011 CPA games was launched at Superbowl Hougang on 20 
August. Participants came from all segments of the accountancy 
profession and the ever-popular CPA games saw a 38.6% increase 
in attendance. kPmg made history this year by maintaining a three-
year winning streak since 2009. The CPA games continue to be 
a platform to build bonds and celebrate the spirit of camaraderie 
within the profession. 

ICPAS became a PA Corporate Member in December 2010. 
ICPAS President Dr Ernest Kan (third from left) with PA’s Chief Executive Director 
Yam Ah Mee (extreme left) and PA Chairman Prime Minister Lee Hsien Loong 
(centre) and PA staff members and representatives. 

Photo courtesy of People's Association.

At the ICPAS-SMU CEO Forum, the distinguished speakers and panellists (from 
left) were SMU Associate Professor of Accounting (Practice) & SOAR Co-Director 
(Industry Research) Dr Foo See Liang; Mapletree Logistics Trust Management 
CEO & Executive Director Mr Richard Lai; ICPAS Council Member & MD of Jay 
Gee Enterprises Mr R Dhinakaran; SMU President Prof Arnoud De Meyer; ICPAS 
President Dr Ernest Kan; EDB Assistant MD (Planning & Policy) Ms Anna Chan; 
Fish & Co Restaurant MD Mr Ricky Chew, and moderator, SICC Chairman Mr 
Shankar Iyer.
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26 AUG  ICPAs CFO FORUM 2011: sTRATeGIC VALUe 
CReATION

The forum brought together financial leaders and industry experts 
to discuss the evolution of CFos from transaction managers to 
“business visionaries”. other topics such as tapping on the debt 
markets and winning the war for talents were also discussed. 

27 AUG  AMeNDMeNTs TO ICPAs CONsTITUTION

An overwhelming majority of about 90% of members present 
at the ICPAS extraordinary general meeting (egm) voted 
for the amendments. The constitutional changes represent 
enhancements to the Institute’s existing governance arrangements 
and touch on areas such as composition and mode of election 
of Council members, tenure of the leadership team, appointment 
of a nominations Committee and an Audit Committee, and 
membership classification.

sePTeMBeR

9 seP The FUTURe OF AUDIT

ICPAS and ICAew hosted a panel discussion centred on the 
ongoing debate surrounding the european Commission’s (eC) 
green Paper entitled Audit Policy: lessons from the Crisis.

OCTOBeR

FULL eDUTRUsT CeRTIFICATION
FOR sAA GLOBAL eDUCATION 

SAA global education was conferred the full eduTrust Certification 
by the Council for Private education (CPe) Singapore in recognition 
of its continuing efforts to provide higher standards of private 
education and for maintaining robust academic systems and 
processes.

NOVeMBeR

3 & 4 NOV  sINGAPORe ACCOUNTANCY CONVeNTION 2011: 
ACCOUNTANCY eNTRePOT

The large-scale convention brought together over 30 industry 
experts to discuss topical issues in accountancy and business. 
Participants learnt more about Singapore’s future development 
as a global accountancy hub through the idea of connectivity – 
bridging ideas, people and infrastructure. minister of State for 
Finance and Transport mrs Josephine Teo was the guest of honour 
for the Convention while ICPAS Advisor and minister of State for 
Trade and Industry mr Teo Ser luck officiated the gala dinner.

New GUIDe ON sFRs FOR sMes 

To help business owners and preparers of financial statements 
understand the financial, accounting and operational implications 
of adopting a new, streamlined and simplified reporting standard 
for Smes, ICPAS published a user-friendly guide entitled The 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standard (SFRS) for Small Entities – 
What You Need to Know.

DeCeMBeR

5 DeC  CAse sTUDY DIsCUssION BY sIATP

SIATP organised a case study discussion to explain the successful 
claim for capital allowances with regard to capital expenditure 
incurred for plant and machinery used by sub-contractors.

At the ICPAS CFO Forum 2011, the distinguished speakers and panellists (from 
left) were Singapore International Chamber of Commerce (SICC)’s Mr Phillip 
Overmyer; GEA Westfalia Separator’s Mr Gabriel Low; SingTel’s Ms Jeann 
Low; ICPAS’ Dr Ernest Kan; Key Media’s Ms Sumathi V Selvaretnam; Nanyang 
Technological University (NTU)’s Prof Tan Hun Tong; Bloomberg’s Mr Nitin 
Jaiswal; Ascendas’ Mr Chia Nam Toon, and Michael Page International’s Mr 
Andrew Norton.

SAA-GE, the Education Arm of ICPAS, 
was among the 36 Private Education 
Institutions with a full 4 year-EduTrust 
certification, further affirming its 
achievements of higher standards in key 
areas of management and provision of 
education services.
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BROADeNING OUR 
sCOPe OF seRVICes



TOTAL
NUMBeR OF
CPe hOURs 

AwARDeD
IN 2011

75,678
                            

TOTAL
NUMBeR OF

CPe COURses
IN 2011

465
TOTAL

NUMBeR OF 
CPe PARTICIPANTs

IN 2011

8,000
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the YeAr In revIew

the constitutional changes enhanced
the Institute’s existing governance
arrangements in areas such as the
composition and mode of election 
of Council Members, tenure of the 
leadership team, appointment of an Audit
Committee and nominations Committee, 
appointment of a Chief executive officer 
as well as membership classification.

The proposed amendments to the ICPAS Constitution was reported in The Straits Times, 30 August 2011.
Source: The Straits Times © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Reprinted with permission

LAYING The GROUNDwORK

ReVIew OF The ICPAs CONsTITUTION

A key highlight of 2011 was the extraordinary general meeting 
(egm) held on 27 August 2011 to seek members’ consent to the 
proposed amendments to the ICPAS Constitution. In response 
to the Committee to develop the Accountancy Sector’s (CdAS) 
recommendation for ICPAS to be transformed into a professional 
accountancy body with global membership, outlook and standing, 
ICPAS had earlier embarked on a strategic review of its Constitution 
in march 2010. The review entailed a rigorous process comprising 
interviews and focus group sessions with stakeholders, research 
and comparative studies of other accountancy and professional 
bodies, and a formal consultation paper to invite comments from 
members and stakeholders, and culminated in the egm in 2011. 

The constitutional changes enhanced the Institute’s existing 
governance arrangements in areas such as the composition and 
mode of election of Council members, tenure of the leadership team, 
appointment of an Audit Committee and nominations Committee, 
appointment of a Chief executive officer as well as membership 
classification. The proposed changes received overwhelming 
support from members at the egm, and the amendments have 
since been approved by the Registrar of Societies. To facilitate the 
Institute’s leadership renewal process, ICPAS undertook a robust 
approach and effected certain provisions retrospectively through 
transitional arrangements. 

Singapore “Popiah King” Sam Goi sold his 7 per cent stake in wastewater treatment
company Asia Environment on the open market last Friday. At the offer price of 30 cents,
Mr Goi will receive nearly $10.8 million from the sale. ST FILE PHOTO

BY MAGDALEN NG

SINGAPORE’S key accountancy body
has made amendments to its Constitu-
tion that affects the terms the council
members will serve and how they are
elected.

Almost 90 per cent of the 291 mem-
bers of the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants of Singapore (Icpas) that
were present voted for the amend-
ments at an extraordinary general
meeting last Saturday.

The key change caps the tenure of

the institute’s council
members at three consec-
utive terms of two years
each, as a way of generat-
ing leadership renewal.

Council members
who have served the max-
imum number of years
will have to wait two
years before seeking
re-election. Previously,
there was no term limit.

The limit will also ap-
ply retrospectively to
members affected by
transitional arrange-
ments.

Those who have
served the maximum number of years
and are due to retire next year can
stand for re-election for another

two-year term, instead
of three consecutive
terms.

Council members
who have served more
than three terms and are
due to retire in 2013 will
step down.

Another key change
involves the setting up
of an audit committee to
help the council oversee
the institute’s financial
reporting.

There will also be a
nominations committee
to help the council tal-
ent-spot candidates for

appointments.
These changes have been submit-

ted to the Registrar of Societies, and

will take effect when they are ap-
proved.

Icpas president Ernest Kan said:
“With the amended Constitution, we
will have a strengthened constitution-
al framework that forms the building
blocks for our future development in
the international arena.”

He added that the transitional ar-
rangements, which go over and above
what is required of the institute, un-
derscore Icpas’ commitment to deci-
sive and constructive change.

Mr Teo Ser Luck, Minister of State
for Trade and Industry, who is also Ic-
pas adviser, said: “The carefully cali-
brated changes are aligned with the
recommendations of the Committee
to Develop the Accountancy Sector
(CDAS) to strengthen the institute’s
governance and leadership structure.”

The CDAS had proposed ways to
overhaul the sector in order to double
its contribution to gross domestic
product to 1 per cent.

One recommendation was that Ic-
pas transform itself into a professional
accountancy body, with a global mem-
bership, outlook and standing.

Icpas has nearly 25,000 members,
including auditors and accountants
who work in banks and in companies
as finance staff.

songyuan@sph.com.sg

BY AARON LOW

RISING commodity prices helped
send profits and revenue soaring
at commodities supplier Olam in
the final quarter to cap a sterling
year for the firm.

Those higher prices, plus bet-
ter margins from its recent invest-
ments in plantations and process-
ing facilities, were behind fourth
quarter net profits of $127.4 mil-
lion, 38 per cent up on the same
period last year. Revenue for the
three months to June 30 jumped
44.3 per cent from last year to
$4.52 billion.

These solid figures helped lift
full-year profit by 19.5 per cent
to $429.8 million, beating ana-
lysts’ forecasts of $368.9 million.

Likewise, sales revenue for the
full year rocketed 50.5 per cent to
$15.73 billion as commodity pric-

es staged a strong rally, said
Olam in a statement.

Earnings per share for the quar-
ter rose from 4.58 cents to 5.91
cents, while net asset value rose
11.2 per cent from June 30 last
year to 78.7 cents. The firm has
recommended a first and final div-
idend of five cents per share.

Managing director and CEO
Sunny Verghese said the solid fig-
ures reflect the resilience of its op-
erations despite volatility in the
economy and markets.“Our abili-
ty to achieve this consistency in
performance despite the volatility
... is a function of our well-bal-
anced and diversified portfolio
business model,” he said.

All of Olam’s business seg-
ments – edible nuts, spices and
beans; confectionery and bever-
age ingredients; food staples and
packaged foods; industrial raw

materials; and commodity finan-
cial services – reported growth in
both sales and volumes.

Industrial raw materials was
the fastest growing segment,
with revenue up 62.5 per cent for
the whole year. Its sales volumes
hit 8.5 million tonnes, up 20.6
per cent compared with last year.

Olam, which is partly owned
by Singapore investment firm Te-
masek Holdings, is one of the
world’s biggest suppliers of rice,
cocoa and coffee. It is expanding
in cotton in Ghana and funding
new rice field irrigation systems
in Mozambique.

The company said that it re-
mains positive about its pros-
pects for this coming year.

Olam shares have slumped 32
per cent this year amid market un-
certainty. They rose seven cents
to $2.33 yesterday.

BY JONATHAN KWOK

TURBULENT global financial markets have forced
massage chair firm Osim International to halt plans
to list on the Taiwan stock exchange.

The company stated yesterday that it has asked
the Taiwanese market authorities to withdraw the
proposed issue.

Osim cited the “ongoing disruption” in global
markets but said it will re-evaluate the decision
when conditions improve.

The firm had wanted to list via Taiwan Deposito-
ry Receipts (TDRs), which are certificates traded in
Taipei by a firm already listed elsewhere, such as on
the Singapore Exchange.

TDRs give investors ownership of a certain
number of shares in the company and any divi-
dends paid.

Osim, which sells massage chairs and health
products, received regulatory approval for the TDR
listing in April.

It planned to issue 85 million TDR units, which
will represent 42.5 million ordinary shares, bringing
estimated proceeds of $76 million.

Osim’s shares rose 3.5 cents to $1.085 yesterday.
Issuing TDRs became more popular among Singa-

pore-listed firms last year, with a number of compa-
nies jumping on the bandwagon.

But poor market conditions and the disappoint-
ing share price performance in Taiwan for some of
these counters have dampened enthusiasm.

In June, Ziwo Holdings withdrew its TDR listing
plans, while in March last year, Action Asia
scrapped its plans for a TDR programme.

TDR-hopeful Pacific Andes said earlier this
month that it is still keeping to its plan to issue the
stock by the end of the year, although its plans may
yet be changed by market sentiment.

Shipbuilder Yangzijiang and abalone company
Oceanus are among companies whose TDRs are be-
low the issue price.

Icpas to cap council
members’ tenure and
modify election rules

Sands China’s profit
more than doubles
THE Macau unit of casino
giant Las Vegas Sands said
yesterday that its first-half net
profit more than doubled,
driven by soaring gambling
revenue growth.

Sands China’s profit in the
first six months rose to
US$539.5 million (S$652
million), from US$250.5 million
during the same period a year

ago, it said in a statement to
the Hong Kong stock
exchange, where it is listed.
AGENCE FRANCE-PRESSE

Cathay introduces
premium economy
CATHAY Pacific Airways plans
to add premium economy seats
by next year to tempt coach
travellers into paying higher
fares for more legroom and bet-
ter meals.

The airline will have the
product on flights to Europe,
North America, Australia, the
Middle East and India, chief ex-
ecutive John Slosar said.

Cathay will join British Air-
ways, Virgin Atlantic and Qan-
tas in offering premium class
seats. It has also started out
new business class cabins to
compete against Singapore Air-
lines and Emirates Airlines.

Cathay did not say how
much the new premium econo-
my seats would cost the carrier.
It said introducing the new busi-
ness class will cost about HK$1
billion (S$155 million).
BLOOMBERG

BY MELISSA TAN

FOOD tycoon Sam Goi, who made his
debut last month on the Forbes rich
list in Singapore with an estimated
US$1.2 billion (S$1.45 billion) fortune,
sold a hefty stake in China wastewater
treatment company Asia Environment
Holdings last Friday.

However, it is not clear if Mr Goi,
62, dubbed the “Popiah King”, has in-
creased his wealth much – if at all –
as a result of his sale of the 7 per cent
stake.

Singapore-listed Asia Environment
is the subject of a buyout bid by Mr
Wang Hongchun, its chief executive,
who last week launched his bid via spe-
cial purpose vehicle Ciena Enterpris-
es.

Mr Goi’s shares were sold on the
open market. At the offer price of 30
cents, he will receive nearly $10.8 mil-
lion as a result of the sale.

An earlier report estimated his cost
to be $8.5 million when he bought a
9.8 per cent stake in July 2006.

The share price of Asia Environ-
ment stock was also about 30 cents
then, but the total number of shares is-
sued by the company was smaller.

Mr Goi has gradually increased the
number of shares held since the first
purchase, and it is unclear how much
profit he has made overall.

Mr Goi is the founder and chairman
of frozen popiah skin maker Tee Yih
Jia Food Manufacturing.

The firm, which also produces fro-

zen roti prata, owned the Asia Environ-
ment shares. It operates in Singapore,
Malaysia, the United States, Europe
and China.

Tee Yih Jia said Mr Goi was unavail-
able for comment.

Trading in Asia Environment
shares was halted last Friday at 1pm,
but the halt was lifted yesterday after
market close. The shares last traded at
30 cents.

Although he has sold his stake in
Asia Environment, Mr Goi still owns a
stake in Dayen Environmental, anoth-
er China wastewater treatment firm.

He had said in earlier reports that
he was working on getting Asia Envi-
ronment and Dayen to collaborate to
secure bigger projects.

Besides Dayen, Mr Goi has a proper-
ty arm in China, Yangzhou Junhe Hold-
ings, and has invested more than $100
million to date in a range of listed and
private companies.

In the food and beverage business,
they include Super Coffeemix, where
he is vice-chairman; Tung Lok Group
Restaurants; minimart operator PSC
Corp and China’s Youcan Foods Inter-
national.

He also has stakes in other Chinese
firms like gardening equipment maker
Zhongguo Powerplus and China
Healthcare.

Other companies Mr Goi has stakes
in include consumer goods distributor
JEL Corp, biotech firm Rockeby Bio-
med and metal recycler Union Steel
Holdings.

Key accounting body
amends Constitution

Olam records full-year profit of $430m
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Singapore “Popiah King” Sam Goi sold his 7 per cent stake in wastewater treatment
company Asia Environment on the open market last Friday. At the offer price of 30 cents,
Mr Goi will receive nearly $10.8 million from the sale. ST FILE PHOTO

BY MAGDALEN NG

SINGAPORE’S key accountancy body
has made amendments to its Constitu-
tion that affects the terms the council
members will serve and how they are
elected.

Almost 90 per cent of the 291 mem-
bers of the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants of Singapore (Icpas) that
were present voted for the amend-
ments at an extraordinary general
meeting last Saturday.

The key change caps the tenure of

the institute’s council
members at three consec-
utive terms of two years
each, as a way of generat-
ing leadership renewal.

Council members
who have served the max-
imum number of years
will have to wait two
years before seeking
re-election. Previously,
there was no term limit.

The limit will also ap-
ply retrospectively to
members affected by
transitional arrange-
ments.

Those who have
served the maximum number of years
and are due to retire next year can
stand for re-election for another

two-year term, instead
of three consecutive
terms.

Council members
who have served more
than three terms and are
due to retire in 2013 will
step down.

Another key change
involves the setting up
of an audit committee to
help the council oversee
the institute’s financial
reporting.

There will also be a
nominations committee
to help the council tal-
ent-spot candidates for

appointments.
These changes have been submit-

ted to the Registrar of Societies, and

will take effect when they are ap-
proved.

Icpas president Ernest Kan said:
“With the amended Constitution, we
will have a strengthened constitution-
al framework that forms the building
blocks for our future development in
the international arena.”

He added that the transitional ar-
rangements, which go over and above
what is required of the institute, un-
derscore Icpas’ commitment to deci-
sive and constructive change.

Mr Teo Ser Luck, Minister of State
for Trade and Industry, who is also Ic-
pas adviser, said: “The carefully cali-
brated changes are aligned with the
recommendations of the Committee
to Develop the Accountancy Sector
(CDAS) to strengthen the institute’s
governance and leadership structure.”

The CDAS had proposed ways to
overhaul the sector in order to double
its contribution to gross domestic
product to 1 per cent.

One recommendation was that Ic-
pas transform itself into a professional
accountancy body, with a global mem-
bership, outlook and standing.

Icpas has nearly 25,000 members,
including auditors and accountants
who work in banks and in companies
as finance staff.

songyuan@sph.com.sg

BY AARON LOW

RISING commodity prices helped
send profits and revenue soaring
at commodities supplier Olam in
the final quarter to cap a sterling
year for the firm.

Those higher prices, plus bet-
ter margins from its recent invest-
ments in plantations and process-
ing facilities, were behind fourth
quarter net profits of $127.4 mil-
lion, 38 per cent up on the same
period last year. Revenue for the
three months to June 30 jumped
44.3 per cent from last year to
$4.52 billion.

These solid figures helped lift
full-year profit by 19.5 per cent
to $429.8 million, beating ana-
lysts’ forecasts of $368.9 million.

Likewise, sales revenue for the
full year rocketed 50.5 per cent to
$15.73 billion as commodity pric-

es staged a strong rally, said
Olam in a statement.

Earnings per share for the quar-
ter rose from 4.58 cents to 5.91
cents, while net asset value rose
11.2 per cent from June 30 last
year to 78.7 cents. The firm has
recommended a first and final div-
idend of five cents per share.

Managing director and CEO
Sunny Verghese said the solid fig-
ures reflect the resilience of its op-
erations despite volatility in the
economy and markets.“Our abili-
ty to achieve this consistency in
performance despite the volatility
... is a function of our well-bal-
anced and diversified portfolio
business model,” he said.

All of Olam’s business seg-
ments – edible nuts, spices and
beans; confectionery and bever-
age ingredients; food staples and
packaged foods; industrial raw

materials; and commodity finan-
cial services – reported growth in
both sales and volumes.

Industrial raw materials was
the fastest growing segment,
with revenue up 62.5 per cent for
the whole year. Its sales volumes
hit 8.5 million tonnes, up 20.6
per cent compared with last year.

Olam, which is partly owned
by Singapore investment firm Te-
masek Holdings, is one of the
world’s biggest suppliers of rice,
cocoa and coffee. It is expanding
in cotton in Ghana and funding
new rice field irrigation systems
in Mozambique.

The company said that it re-
mains positive about its pros-
pects for this coming year.

Olam shares have slumped 32
per cent this year amid market un-
certainty. They rose seven cents
to $2.33 yesterday.

BY JONATHAN KWOK

TURBULENT global financial markets have forced
massage chair firm Osim International to halt plans
to list on the Taiwan stock exchange.

The company stated yesterday that it has asked
the Taiwanese market authorities to withdraw the
proposed issue.

Osim cited the “ongoing disruption” in global
markets but said it will re-evaluate the decision
when conditions improve.

The firm had wanted to list via Taiwan Deposito-
ry Receipts (TDRs), which are certificates traded in
Taipei by a firm already listed elsewhere, such as on
the Singapore Exchange.

TDRs give investors ownership of a certain
number of shares in the company and any divi-
dends paid.

Osim, which sells massage chairs and health
products, received regulatory approval for the TDR
listing in April.

It planned to issue 85 million TDR units, which
will represent 42.5 million ordinary shares, bringing
estimated proceeds of $76 million.

Osim’s shares rose 3.5 cents to $1.085 yesterday.
Issuing TDRs became more popular among Singa-

pore-listed firms last year, with a number of compa-
nies jumping on the bandwagon.

But poor market conditions and the disappoint-
ing share price performance in Taiwan for some of
these counters have dampened enthusiasm.

In June, Ziwo Holdings withdrew its TDR listing
plans, while in March last year, Action Asia
scrapped its plans for a TDR programme.

TDR-hopeful Pacific Andes said earlier this
month that it is still keeping to its plan to issue the
stock by the end of the year, although its plans may
yet be changed by market sentiment.

Shipbuilder Yangzijiang and abalone company
Oceanus are among companies whose TDRs are be-
low the issue price.

Icpas to cap council
members’ tenure and
modify election rules

Sands China’s profit
more than doubles
THE Macau unit of casino
giant Las Vegas Sands said
yesterday that its first-half net
profit more than doubled,
driven by soaring gambling
revenue growth.

Sands China’s profit in the
first six months rose to
US$539.5 million (S$652
million), from US$250.5 million
during the same period a year

ago, it said in a statement to
the Hong Kong stock
exchange, where it is listed.
AGENCE FRANCE-PRESSE

Cathay introduces
premium economy
CATHAY Pacific Airways plans
to add premium economy seats
by next year to tempt coach
travellers into paying higher
fares for more legroom and bet-
ter meals.

The airline will have the
product on flights to Europe,
North America, Australia, the
Middle East and India, chief ex-
ecutive John Slosar said.

Cathay will join British Air-
ways, Virgin Atlantic and Qan-
tas in offering premium class
seats. It has also started out
new business class cabins to
compete against Singapore Air-
lines and Emirates Airlines.

Cathay did not say how
much the new premium econo-
my seats would cost the carrier.
It said introducing the new busi-
ness class will cost about HK$1
billion (S$155 million).
BLOOMBERG

BY MELISSA TAN

FOOD tycoon Sam Goi, who made his
debut last month on the Forbes rich
list in Singapore with an estimated
US$1.2 billion (S$1.45 billion) fortune,
sold a hefty stake in China wastewater
treatment company Asia Environment
Holdings last Friday.

However, it is not clear if Mr Goi,
62, dubbed the “Popiah King”, has in-
creased his wealth much – if at all –
as a result of his sale of the 7 per cent
stake.

Singapore-listed Asia Environment
is the subject of a buyout bid by Mr
Wang Hongchun, its chief executive,
who last week launched his bid via spe-
cial purpose vehicle Ciena Enterpris-
es.

Mr Goi’s shares were sold on the
open market. At the offer price of 30
cents, he will receive nearly $10.8 mil-
lion as a result of the sale.

An earlier report estimated his cost
to be $8.5 million when he bought a
9.8 per cent stake in July 2006.

The share price of Asia Environ-
ment stock was also about 30 cents
then, but the total number of shares is-
sued by the company was smaller.

Mr Goi has gradually increased the
number of shares held since the first
purchase, and it is unclear how much
profit he has made overall.

Mr Goi is the founder and chairman
of frozen popiah skin maker Tee Yih
Jia Food Manufacturing.

The firm, which also produces fro-

zen roti prata, owned the Asia Environ-
ment shares. It operates in Singapore,
Malaysia, the United States, Europe
and China.

Tee Yih Jia said Mr Goi was unavail-
able for comment.

Trading in Asia Environment
shares was halted last Friday at 1pm,
but the halt was lifted yesterday after
market close. The shares last traded at
30 cents.

Although he has sold his stake in
Asia Environment, Mr Goi still owns a
stake in Dayen Environmental, anoth-
er China wastewater treatment firm.

He had said in earlier reports that
he was working on getting Asia Envi-
ronment and Dayen to collaborate to
secure bigger projects.

Besides Dayen, Mr Goi has a proper-
ty arm in China, Yangzhou Junhe Hold-
ings, and has invested more than $100
million to date in a range of listed and
private companies.

In the food and beverage business,
they include Super Coffeemix, where
he is vice-chairman; Tung Lok Group
Restaurants; minimart operator PSC
Corp and China’s Youcan Foods Inter-
national.

He also has stakes in other Chinese
firms like gardening equipment maker
Zhongguo Powerplus and China
Healthcare.

Other companies Mr Goi has stakes
in include consumer goods distributor
JEL Corp, biotech firm Rockeby Bio-
med and metal recycler Union Steel
Holdings.

Key accounting body
amends Constitution

Olam records full-year profit of $430m
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KeY AMeNDMeNTs TO The ICPAs CONsTITUTION
 
•	 The	 tenure	 of	 ICPAS	 Council	 Members	 will	 be	 capped	 at	

three consecutive terms of two years each, or a maximum of 
six consecutive years. There is a moratorium of two years for 
Council members who have served the maximum number of 
terms to seek re-election. Previously, there was no specified 
cap on the tenure of Council members. with regard to 
transitional arrangements, a provision for Council members 
who have served for some time in the Council to retire at the 
Agms in 2012 and 2013 was made in the revised Constitution.

•	 The	tenure	of	ICPAS	office	bearers	(President,	Vice	President	
and Treasurer) will be capped at a maximum two terms of two 
years each. The President, after serving four years, will not be 
eligible for the office of vice President or Treasurer thereafter.

•	 The	Chief	Executive	Officer	of	the	Institute	shall	be	appointed	by	
the Council on such terms and for such period as it thinks fit. 

•	 An	Audit	Committee	(AC)	will	be	set	up	to	assist	the	Council	
in fulfilling its responsibilities of oversight in the Institute’s 
financial reporting. The AC shall comprise at least three Council 
members, none of whom shall be an office bearer.

•	 A	 Nominations	 Committee	 will	 be	 appointed	 to	 assist	 the	
Council in identifying candidates for internal and external 
appointments. 

•	 The	 ICPAS	 Council	 shall	 consist	 of	 16	 CPAs Singapore 
elected by members, of whom at least six members shall be 
public accountants and at least six members are not public 
accountants. This leaves four seats to be filled by any CPA 
Singapore. Previously, the Council would comprise eight 
Practising members elected by Practising members and eight 
non-Practising members elected by non-Practising members. 
Henceforth, the election of Council members will be open to 
all members with voting rights, regardless of whether they are 
Practising or non-Practising members.

•	 The	 categories	 of	 Practising	 Member	 and	 Non-Practising	
member will be collapsed into one category known as CPA 
Singapore.

The amended Constitution has laid the groundwork for the 
transformation of the Institute into a professional accountancy 
body with a global membership, outlook and standing. 

BUILDING CAPABILITes

The Institute reorganised and geared up its human capital in 2011 
to align with the core drivers of hub development. In addition, 
the reorganisation will provide strategic focus and organisational 
alignment within the Institute. To this end, two new divisions – 
Policy and Strategic Planning, and Industry development – were 
established. 

one division will provide greater focus on policy and strategic 
planning to engage key stakeholders and shape policy development 
in the accountancy profession at the national and global levels. The 
other division will facilitate greater efforts in the area of industry 
development, with a focus on engaging the major employers of the 
profession, including the SmPs. The two divisions will also build 
and maintain stronger ties among our international counterparts 
and leverage upon the expertise and experience of our established 
foreign counterparts to help raise our technical excellence and 
bring greater value to members. 

GReATeR FOCUs ON POLICY AND sTRATeGIC PLANNING

The new divisions have made headway with the completion of some 
initial work in 2011. The Policy and Strategic Planning division, 
together with the other divisions, has rolled out a revitalised vision 
and strategy for the Institute for 2012. This strategic plan will serve 
as the basis for a more comprehensive and detailed strategic plan 
for the following three years (2013–15) and ultimately for the global 
blueprint that will help guide the Institute towards the desired 
vision for 2020. we will need to engage and consult our partners 
and stakeholders in the process, and hope to enlist your support 
and views when we embark on this effort as part of our strategic 
planning. 

INITIATIVes TO MeeT INDUsTRY NeeDs

In terms of industry development, we are developing a series of 
initiatives to help our members better seize opportunities in the 
anticipated demand for highly-skilled accountants. The Industry 
development division will continue to research and assess 
industry needs, and develop suitable programmes to raise the 
professional competence and capabilities of our members as well 
as help develop the industry, with the overall goal of contributing 
to the development of Singapore as a leading accountancy hub.

with the establishment of two new divisions, we can look forward 
to more concerted and focused efforts to engage our members 
and develop the industry. 
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BUILDING INTeRNATIONAL ReLATIONs
AND FORGING PARTNeRshIPs

ICPAS actively engaged international organisations and participated 
in overseas events during the year to build relations and forge 
partnerships. These efforts were intended to achieve ICPAS’ 
objectives of, among others, keeping abreast of international 
developments and contributing to international efforts to enhance 
the profession and industry, fostering and profiling our thought 
leadership, building our global outlook and raising our global 
standing, and contributing to the development of Singapore as an 
accountancy hub.

IIN CONFeReNCe

These efforts started early in the year, with ICPAS playing host 
to delegates from a worldwide network of major accountancy 
bodies for the International Innovation network (IIn) Conference 
in Singapore in January 2011. IIn’s mission is to provide an 
international forum for collaboration to share ideas, knowledge 
and experience for the benefit of the institutes and their members. 
The IIn Singapore Conference provided a good platform for 
representatives from member institutes to share ideas on innovative 
products and services that are valued by members as well as get to 
know ICPAS and Singapore better.

(From left) ICPAS President Dr Ernest Kan with American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants Director of Member Value Ms Susan Amey 
and The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Vice-President, 
Member Services, Ms Cairine Wilson

Meeting of the best minds: IIN delegates from various major accountancy bodies gathered in Singapore for a three-day conference

the YeAr In revIew
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IFAC PAODC MeeTING

we also hosted the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) 
Professional Accountancy organization development Committee 
(PAodC) in February 2011 when more than 25 international 
delegates representing the IFAC PAodC came together for a two-
day conference held in Singapore. Included in the discussion at 
the PAodC meeting were the programmes and initiatives that 
would support the development of the accountancy profession in 
developing countries.

In november 2011, ICPAS attended the IFAC Council meeting in 
berlin, germany. In particular, ICPAS was honoured to be invited 
to provide a regional perspective on regulatory developments in 
the Asia-Pacific region. In his panel presentation, ICPAS President 
dr ernest kan shared his views on the issues faced by the Public 
Accounting oversight board’s (PAob) right to inspect audit firms 
in foreign jurisdiction outside the uS, state of IFRS convergence 
efforts in Asia Pacific, different criteria that would require company 
officers to report on an entity’s internal controls as well as the 
form of reporting, and whether term limits should be enforced on 
independent directors, and if so, the term limits across jurisdictions. 
These topics contributed to the overall exchange of views among 
the panellists and raised interest among the audience. 

ICPAS played host to the IFAC PAODC conference and welcomed the PAODC committee with a dinner. (Standing, from left) CAPA CE Mr Brian Blood, 
Assoc Prof Andrew Lee, IFAC Executive Director Mr Russell Guthrie, World Bank Regional Financial Manager Ms Samia Msadek, Accountant-General 
Ms Chua Geok Wah; (Seated, from left) IRAS Deputy Commissioner (GST) Mrs Chia-Tern Huey Min, ICPAS President Dr Ernest Kan; IFAC PAODC 
Chairman Ms Deborah Williams; ACRA CE Ms Juthika Ramanathan

ICPAS President Dr Ernest Kan receiving a token of appreciation from 
IFAC PAODC Chairman Ms Deborah Williams
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LONGsTANDING INVOLVeMeNT IN AFA

At the regional level, ICPAS, a founding member of the ASeAn 
Federation of Accountants (AFA), attended the 103rd to 106th 
AFA Council meetings held in malaysia, Indonesia and myanmar 
during the year. The participants discussed the development of a 
competency framework for the education of countries within the 
Asean AFA at the 103rd Council meeting, and received updates 
on the survey findings on the Condition of government Accounting 
and Financial management in Asean at the 105th Council meeting. 

COLLABORATIONs wITh OTheR PROFessIONAL 
ACCOUNTANCY BODIes

ICPAS also forged closer relations with other professional 
accountancy bodies in 2011. In a joint effort to develop the 
industry and support our members in developing new skills and 
competencies, ICPAS and the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in england and wales (ICAew) collaborated in several events. 
These included the development of a bespoke programme for non-
executive directors in Singapore aimed at equipping existing and 
aspiring directors with the latest international best practices and 
regulatory requirements specific to Singapore. both organisations 
also jointly hosted the ICPAS-ICAew european Commission (eC) 
green Paper on Audit Policy Forum in September 2011. ICPAS and 
ICAew played host to each other during their senior management 
members’ visits in late 2011. The visits provided the two institutes 
the opportunity to explore further potential for collaboration in 
areas such as the development of technical resources, continuing 
professional education, and structured professional development 
courses in specialised areas.

overall, 2011 was a fruitful year in terms of building international 
relations and forging partnerships with international organisations 
and professional bodies. 

ICPAS representatives at the AFA Coucil Meeting were (First row, first from right) AFA Treasurer & ICPAS Council Member Mr Khoo Ho Tong; (first row, third from right) 
AFA Council Member & ICPAS President Dr Ernest Kan; (second row, ninth from right) AFA & ICPAS Council Member Mr Tan Boen Eng; (second row, 12th from right) 
ICPAS International Development and Relations Manager Ms Evelyn Tan.

the YeAr In revIew
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DeVeLOPING The PROFessION

eNhANCING KNOwLeDGe AND sKILLs

The Institute continued its efforts in 2011 to provide resources and 
platforms for our members to enhance their knowledge and skills, 
and help develop the profession. our Continuing Professional 
education (CPe) programmes are tailored to support our members 
at various stages of their career progression, and help them excel 
in today’s fast-changing business environment.

The audit training programmes delivered by the Institute increased 
in both depth and breadth during the year. The CPe department 
launched the Structured Audit Core Training (SACT) matrix in April 
2011 to provide a holistic and structured CPe training framework 
and better support the development of SmPs. The framework is 
aimed at raising the SmPs’ audit quality in the areas of planning, 
testing, completion and reporting. The Institute collaborated 
with leading university professors to develop the matrix and 
subsequently worked with industry practitioners, based on the 
matrix’s training objectives, to deliver Audit CPe seminars. The 
number of audit programmes increased from 24 CPe seminars in 
2010 to 38 in 2011. 

The Institute continued to support and work closely with the Pro-
Tem Singapore Accountancy Council (PTSAC) in the development 
of the Singapore-branded post-university professional accountancy 
qualification programme (QP). In preparation for the Institute’s 
role as the administrator of QP, the examinations and Qualification 
division (eQd) has been active in building up the infrastructure and 
operational plans necessary to administer a globally recognised 
qualification programme. These include developing IT systems for 
student registration, exam enrolment and administration, e-portal 
for students and employers, website development, online student 
support, study materials and policies and procedures in respect 
of marketing and communications. Prior to this, earlier in the year, 
eQd was part of the tender review working group in drafting the 
tender document and evaluating the tenders submitted to the 
PTSAC in the selection of a consultant to develop the QP. This 
culminated in the appointment of the QP Consultant in october 
2011. eQd also continued to engage various stakeholders, such as 
employers of the profession, on the development of the QP. 

The Institute also expanded its suite of education and training 
programmes in 2011 to meet the broader needs of its members. 
SAA global education (SAA-ge), the Institute’s education arm, 
launched its first master in business Administration (mbA) 
programme, with the university of newcastle (Australia), and 
is looking at increasing its range of offerings. This mbA will be 
beneficial to members who are aspiring and preparing to move into 
management roles. 

The Singapore Institute of Accredited Tax Professionals (SIATP), 
a subsidiary of the Institute, launched its Code of Professional 
Conduct & ethics, putting in place the fundamental principles 
of professional ethics for its more than 1,800 accredited tax 
professionals. In addition, SIATP launched its continuing 
professional development framework to reinforce the importance 
of lifelong learning among tax professionals. In line with this, SIATP 
organised a series of technical discussions on complex tax issues, 
led by leading tax professionals. 
 
RAIsING AUDIT qUALITY

Four Audit Practice guidance papers were issued by the Practice 
monitoring department in 2011 with the aim to help raise the 
quality of audits conducted by our members by highlighting the 
common audit risks and issues faced. These observations were 
gleaned from the practice reviews of accounting entities that 
audit non-public interest entities, conducted by the department 
under the oversight of the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory 
Authority (ACRA). The department carried out practice reviews 
on 159 public accountants in 2011, an increase of 26% over the 
previous year. 

NURTURING The NexT GeNeRATION

Reflecting its role as the national accountancy body and to contribute 
to the wider community, the Institute continued its efforts in 2011 
to nurture the next generation of accounting professionals and 
fostering an interest in accountancy among youths. In particular, 
the Principle of Accounts tutoring programme, organised by the 
ICPAS examination & Student Registry department, continued 
to garner strong response from university and SAA-ge students 
who volunteered as tutors to accounting students. In 2011, the 
volunteer scheme was extended to include 10 more student-tutors 
from Singapore Polytechnic. The department also organised 
student visits to CPA firms and held career talks in schools to 
promote the profession and inculcate an interest in accountancy 
among students.
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eqUIPPING MeMBeRs

Several initiatives were carried out by the Institute in 2011 to raise 
public awareness and engage external stakeholders on accounting 
and auditing issues, and to develop guidance for accounting and 
auditing professionals. 

To increase awareness and knowledge of accounting and auditing 
issues, the Technical Standards development and Advisory 
department (TSdA) organised a number of seminars. The IFRS for 
Smes – Train the Trainers workshop was held in January 2011 to 
raise awareness of the International Financial Reporting Standards 
for Small and medium-sized entities (IFRS for Smes), while the 
Seminar on observations by the Financial Statements Review 
Committee (FSRC) was held in october 2011 to share the FSRC’s 
top 10 common findings on non-compliance with the Financial 
Reporting Standards (FRS) and Singapore Standards on Auditing 
(SSA).

TSdA also developed relevant auditing and accounting guidance 
for accounting professionals. In conjunction with the launch of the 
revised Audit Manual for Small Companies in April 2011, a seminar 
was also held to help audit professionals understand the different 
aspects of the manual. The department also published the SFRS for 
Small Entities – What You Need to Know guide in november 2011 to 
help business owners and preparers of financial statements better 
understand the financial, accounting and operational implications 
of adopting the SFRS for Small entities.

To inform members and help them address pertinent issues related 
to developments in China’s business and financial regulatory 
environment, a seminar on The China Practice: Audit, business 
and Tax updates was conducted by CPe department in 2011. 

sINGAPORe ACCOUNTANCY CONVeNTION 2011

In terms of thought leadership, a key event was the Singapore 
Accountancy Convention and gala dinner organised by the Institute 
in november 2011 which was attended by over 1000 delegates 
and guests. The ICPAS signature event saw international thought 
leaders, industry experts, government officials, top practitioners 
and business leaders gather in Singapore to discuss key issues in 
accountancy and business. with the theme Accountancy entrepot, 
the convention explored Singapore’s future development as a 
global accountancy hub through the idea of connectivity – bridging 
ideas, people and infrastructure. minister of State for Finance and 
Transport, mrs Josephine Teo, was the guest-of-honour at the 
convention on 4 november 2011 while ICPAS Advisor and minister 
of State for Trade and Industry, mr Teo Ser luck, graced the 
convention’s gala dinner on 3 november.

To offer thought leadership, the Institute, through its Research 
department, produced research findings that provided insight 
on business and accountancy issues. Survey topics included 
transforming Singapore into a global accountancy hub, career 
aspirations of gen y accountancy students, and female board 
representation. 

The Singapore Accountancy Convention 2011 and Gala Dinner were attended by 
over 1,000 delegates and guests.

At Singapore Accountancy Convention Gala Dinner, ICPAS President Dr Ernest 
Kan (left) presented a token of appreciation to guest-of-honour Mr Teo Ser Luck, 
Minister of State for Trade and Industry.

the YeAr In revIew
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ICPAs PRe-BUDGeT 2011 ROUNDTABLe

In February 2011, the Research department conducted the 
ICPAS Pre-budget 2011 Roundtable. Co-chaired by government 
Parliamentary Committee for Finance and Trade and Industry 
Chair ms Jessica Tan, and ICPAS President dr ernest kan, the 
roundtable served as a platform for a distinguished panel of 14 
leaders from the CPA Singapore community, private sector and 
business associations to voice their views on budget matters and 
consolidate them for the government’s consideration. A followup 
event, the 2011 budget update & Recent Tax developments, 
attracted a turnout of more than 500 participants. officiated by 
member of Parliament dr Ahmad magad, this annual seminar 
looked into the impact of tax changes in the budget 2011 on 
businesses and individuals. 

ThOUGhT LeADeRshIP FORUMs

Two other thought leadership events, the ICPAS CFo Forum: 
Strategic value Creation and ICPAS-Smu Ceo Forum: leading 
through uncertainty, provided the platform for dialogue among 
business leaders to address issues and concerns related to the 
prevailing uncertainties in the economic climate.

COLLABORATION wITh ICAew

going beyond Singapore’s confines, the ICPAS-ICAew european 
Commission green Paper on Audit Policy Forum in September 
2011 centred on the ongoing debate surrounding the eC’s green 
Paper on Audit Policy: lesson from the Crisis with a focus on 
the role and scope of audit in the 21st century, in particular, in 
Singapore and the region.

To create broader value for our members, ICPAS developed a 
bespoke programme that will help our members, especially those 
seeking to become a non-executive director, widen their skill sets 
and equip themselves with appropriate competencies.

ICPAsJOBs PORTAL

As another resource for our members, the Institute launched the 
ICPASjobs portal as a recruitment tool for members in April 2011. 
members can search and apply for jobs online, as well as deposit 
their Cvs and manage their online profiles. The portal has garnered 
strong support from organisations, with the big Four firms, leading 
mid-tier firms, multinational companies, and government bodies 
using the portal to advertise and post job openings. 

Industry experts and thought leaders gathered at the Singapore Accountancy Convention 2011. (From Left) IFRS Foundation Director of XBRL 
Activities Mr Olivier Servais; The World Bank Group Chief Economist East Asia and Pacific and Director of World Bank Singapore Mr Bert Hofman; 
ICPAS President Dr Ernest Kan; Minister of State for Finance and Transport Mrs Josephine Teo; The World Bank Group Manager Financial 
Management, East Asia & Pacific Ms Samia Msadek, and Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Chief Executive Ms Juthika 
Ramanathan.
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CoMMIttees’ revIew

In August, the Chairman and Institute’s executive director visited 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India in new delhi at its 
invitation to further the ongoing dialogue on the mutual recognition 
agreement (mRA) negotiation between the two Institutes. An 
official from Singapore’s ministry of Trade and Industry also 
attended the meeting.

The meeting between the officials from both Institutes was very 
useful. noting the current developments taking place in the 
Singapore accountancy sector, both parties agreed to defer further 
negotiation of the mRA until after the Qualification Programme 
(QP) is implemented.

The Committee develops Singapore’s auditing and assurance 
standards, in particular by adopting standards issued by the 
International Auditing and Assurance Standards board (IAASb) 
in conformity with Singapore’s regulatory environment, and by 
monitoring standards-related policy and implementation issues. 
we perform this role under the oversight of the Public Accountants 
oversight Committee (PAoC), which regulates the public 
accountancy profession so that the development of standards is 
robust, credible and engenders public confidence. 

during the year, the Committee completed the revision of the 
Statement of Auditing Practice (SAP) 25 Audit of Listed Companies. 
As at 31 december 2011, we were considering issues relating 
to the following proposed new or revised auditing or assurance 
pronouncements:

•	 Adoption	of	International	Standard	on	Assurance	
engagements (ISAe) 3402 Assurance Reports on Controls at 
a Service Organization 

•	 Withdrawal	of	Audit	Guidance	Statement	(AGS)	8	Reports on 
the Internal Control Procedures of Service Organizations

•	 Revision	of	AGS	1	Sample Independent Auditor’s Reports
•	 Revision	of	SAP	24	Auditors and Public Offering Documents
•	 Development	of	AGS	9	Opinion on Receipts, Expenditure, 

Investment of Moneys and the Acquisition and Disposal of 
Assets by Statutory Boards

over the same period, the Institute, on the recommendation of the 
Committee and approval of the Council, provided its comments on 
the following exposure drafts (eds) issued by IAASb:

•	 ED	Proposals Relating to the Withdrawal of Existing IAPSs 
and Clarification of the Status and Authority of New IAPSs 
and Proposed IAPS 1000, Special Considerations in Auditing 
Complex Financial Instruments 

•	 ED	ISRS	4410	(Revised)	Compilation Engagements 
•	 ED	ISRE	2400	(Revised)	Engagements to Review Historical 

Financial Statements 
•	 ED	ISAE	3410	Assurance Engagements on Greenhouse Gas 

Statements 
•	 ED	ISAE	3000	(Revised)	Assurance Engagements other than 

Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information 

The Committee continued its initiatives under the Clarity outreach 
Programme, which are in line with its objective to provide guidance 
to the profession. we also issued the ICPAS Clarity Bulletin 
publication and held a Clarity Seminar sequel titled must-knows of 
key Clarified SSAs. These initiatives provided a platform to gather 
feedback in understanding the value of the clarified SSAs and 
immediate needs of the stakeholders. As at 31 december 2011, 
the Committee was also working on a set of practical guidance 
materials on the more pertinent Clarified SSAs.

ACCReDITATION COMMITTee

Tan boen eng – Chairman lim boon Cheng

Peter Chay Fook yuen Pang yang Hoong 

Ho Tuck Chuen gillian yeo Hian Heng

khoo Ho Tong yeoh oon Jin 

kevin kwok

AUDITING AND AssURANCe sTANDARDs COMMITTee

yeoh oon Jin – Chairman Alex lee Hoe yuan Siew wun mui

Shariq barmaky – dy Chairman Paul lee Seng meng Julia Tay – observer from ACRA
(alternate: Sherry Quark)Ravinthran Arumugam mak keat meng

basil Chan Julie ng (alternate: low Jin kwan) John Teo woon keng

victor Chang Fook kay Joshua ong kian guan lucas Tran Phuoc

Chiam yah Fang Seow Jean lin Jack wang ying yang

kuan Cheng Tuck Premila gowri Shankar yeo boon Chye
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The board of education and examiners oversees the ICPAS Professional examination (Pe), an 
examination route for overseas accounting graduates or graduates in related fields to qualify as a CPA 
Singapore. To date, there are a total of 157 graduates. 

The Committee met twice in 2011 and approved 294 applications during the reporting period. we also 
approved the examination results of the may and november 2011 examinations and the appointment 
of new examiners, assessors and markers. 

Candidates aspiring to be Certified Public Accountants (CPAs) are expected to observe proper 
rules and regulations, and adhere to good conduct and practices at all times. The board had taken 
appropriate disciplinary actions against candidates who did not comply with ICPAS Pe’s rules and 
regulations. This included the issuance of a written warning to a candidate for misconduct during the 
november 2011 examination. 

we deliberated on the implications of the new Singapore post-university professional accountancy 
programme on the ICPAS Pe. one of the several measures we took to prepare for the transition was 
to encourage the Pe candidates to finish their examinations as soon as possible, and to offer an 
additional examination in February 2012 to give existing candidates more opportunity to complete 
the Pe. 

The Committee addresses issues relating to the banking and 
finance industry, typically by deliberating and providing comments 
on proposed changes in accounting standards and regulatory 
requirements affecting industry participants. we work closely with 
other committees within the Institute on matters pertaining to 
accounting, auditing and reporting issues.

during the reporting period, our discussions revolved around 
the terms of reference, size and composition of the Committee, 
revisions to Recommended Accounting Practice (RAP) 7 Reporting 
Framework for Unit Trusts, monetary Authority of Singapore’s 
(mAS) Consultative Paper on Risk-based Capital Requirements for 
merchant banks Incorporated in Singapore.

The Committee has also worked with the ICPAS Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Committee to revise sample auditor’s reports 
relating to the banking and finance industry contained in AgS 1 
Sample Independent Auditor’s Reports.

In its continual efforts to address issues affecting the banking and 
finance industry and to engage the relevant regulatory authorities 
for knowledge sharing on developments in accounting standards 
and regulatory requirements, the Committee held a dialogue 
session on 15 december 2011 with mAS on the following matters:

•	 Collective	impairment	assessment	under	MAS	Notice	to	
banks 612 and mAS notice to merchant banks 1005 

•	 Sovereign	debt	crisis	in	Europe	
•	 RAP	7	Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts
•	 Audit	observations	for	FY	2011
•	 Feedback	on	areas	of	concerns	for	MAS	for	FY	2011

BOARD OF eDUCATION AND exAMINeRs COMMITTee

gillian yeo Hian Heng – Chairperson lian wee Cheow 

Cheung Pui yuen Pang yang Hoong 

Chew Tong gunn Patricia Tan mui Siang

Ho yew kee

BANKING & FINANCe COMMITTee

Chua kim Chiu – Chairman dominic nixon 

Cheng Ai Phing – dy Chairperson ong Ai boon 

Ho kok yong ong Siew mooi

lee Sze yeng brian Thung Hock lai

lee wai Fai wilson woo Siew wah

leong kok keong
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The Committee organised a variety of events and activities to cater 
to the diverse interests of our members. Here are the highlights: 

ChINese New YeAR shOPPING sPRee
38 members and guests went on a hassle-free shopping spree 
to various local factory outlets for discounted Chinese new year 
goodies. 

ChINese New YeAR Lo Hei LUNCh
34 members feasted on a seven-course Lo Hei lunch at Hotel 
Intercontinental Singapore. 

DINING IN The DARK
A dining experience in total darkness offered 18 of our members 
an insight into the world of the visually impaired. The three-course 
dinner at the Singapore Association of the visually Handicapped 
also opened our eyes to an initiative to provide the visually-impaired 
with employment opportunities. 

eDUCATIONAL TALKs
good debts, bad debts: 92 members picked up tips on strategising 
and managing debt. 

MY wILL, MY wIshes
152 members attended the manulife talk on writing a will.

BOLLYwOOD VeGGIes
77 nature enthusiasts went on a guided farm tour of bollywood 
veggies in kranji. They potted their own plants and tucked into a 
healthy lunch comprising ingredients from the farm. 

ICPAs FAMILY DAY 2011
The annual ICPAS Family day was held onboard traditional 
Chinese junk Cheng Ho. The event was sold out within half a day 
of registration. Arranged to coincide with a national day Parade 
Preview, the 180 members were treated to a spectacular display 
of fireworks from their vantage position at sea – the perfect 
complement to their sumptuous buffet dinner. 

sPeeChCRAFT 2011
CPA Toastmaster Club organised the four-part Speechcraft 2011 
workshop to help members hone their public speaking and 
presentation skills. 

CPA GAMes 2011
This year saw many firsts in the history of the games – three new 
participating firms; record 215 team entries and 20 games. kPmg, 
the overall champion for the third consecutive year, was awarded a 
replica of the Championship trophy to keep. 

The Committee welcomed new Chairperson Jeann low and new member Ho Tuck Chuen to the team. 
we want to express our heartfelt thanks to outgoing Chairman Soh gim Teik for his contributions 
during his term.

The Committee organised and participated in the ICPAS CFo Forum: Strategic value Creation on 26 
August 2011. The forum covered an array of strategic issues ranging from optimising growth to talent 
management. It provided a platform for ICPAS members and high-profile business leaders to meet, 
network and explore best finance practices and strategies relevant to CFos today. on 4 november 
2011, some Committee members also participated as panellists in the Singapore Accountancy 
Convention 2011.

Since its formation, the Committee has discussed and addressed pertinent technical and professional 
issues including new laws, regulations, standards and guidelines. on behalf of ICPAS, we contribute 
feedback at public consultation sessions, such as the Proposed Code of Corporate governance in 
June 2011. 

we recognise the increasing demand faced by the profession and moving forward, we will continue to 
work towards serving the professional needs of ICPAS members and seek to increase dialogue with 
the professional accounting firms as well as CFos in Singapore.

CFO COMMITTee

Jeann low ngiap Jong – Chairperson Ho Tuck Chuen

Chia nam Toon lai Chin yee

Chow kam wing wong lai Ping

COMMUNITY, sOCIAL & sPORTs ADVIsORY PANeL

yeo ek khuan – Chairman michael Heng yeow meng 

khoo Shee Fei Jacqueline lew wan ming 

lo wei min Alvin Phua Chun yen

wong lai yong david Phua Puay Heng 

yim kam may micolle yeo Siew Huay
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The Committee utilised the expertise of its members as audit professionals, consultants, company 
directors and academicians, drawing on their broad experiences to stress the importance of corporate 
governance issues to our members and the general public, as well as to promote fairness, transparency 
and accountability in the conduct of business.

Through the publication of relevant articles in the CPA Singapore journal during the year, the 
Committee aims to generate awareness and promote sound corporate governance amongst ICPAS 
members. during the year, we provided our recommendations to ICPAS in its commentary letters on 
mAS’ Consultation Paper on the Proposed Revisions to the Code of Corporate governance, and moF’ 
Consultation Paper on the Report of the Steering Committee for Review of the Companies Act, in 
support of Singapore’s reputation and growth as a leading and trusted international hub.

we also initiated and are in process of releasing the findings of the research project to study the profile 
of Audit Committees (ACs) of listed companies in Singapore. This is to provide an understanding of 
the compliance of ACs with respect to the requirements under the Singapore Companies Act and 
Code of Corporate governance, as well as present a general description of the state of the ACs of 
listed companies in Singapore. 

The Committee acknowledges the importance of its role in the development, implementation 
and promotion of sound corporate governance and will continue to participate actively in projects 
associated with its objectives.

CORPORATe GOVeRNANCe COMMITTee

R. dhinakaran – Chairman Rohan kamis 

bill bowman lee kin wai 

Ho yew kee Steven Phan Swee kim

The Committee considers issues relating to corporate finance matters, typically by discussing and 
providing input on matters relating to corporate finance to the regulatory authorities and other 
corporate finance/investment banking organisations. we also work closely with other committees 
within the Institute on matters pertaining to accounting and auditing standards, and provide input on 
professional issues to the standard-setters.

during the year, the Committee continued to engage mAS on the revision of SAP 24 Auditors of 
Public Offering Documents. The Committee also deliberated on the draft AgS on Comfort letters and 
considered the implications of the ed ISAe 3420 Assurance Reports on the Process to Compile Pro 
Forma Financial Information Included in a Prospectus if it were to be adopted in Singapore.

CORPORATe FINANCe COMMITTee

Chaly mah – Chairman Tan Tze gay

Ho kim wai Roger Tay
(appointed 17 January 2012)

lee Sze yeng
(until 17 January 2012) Tham Tuck Seng

mah kah loon wong kian kok

Tan Chian khong
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The Committee dealt with three cases relating to non-Practising members referred by the Investigation 
Committee. Two members were removed from the Institute’s register while the third was given a three-
month suspension.

eThICs COMMITTee

Sitoh yih Pin – Chairman Jeann low ngiap Jong

don Ho mun-Tuke – dy Chairman daniel Soh Chung Hian 

Anthony Cheong Fook Seng Phillip yuen ewe Jin 

DIsCIPLINARY COMMITTee

Tan boen eng – Chairman R. dhinakaran 

Peter Chay Fook yuen Sitoh yih Pin

Steven Phan Swee kim gillian yeo Hian Heng

In 2011, the editorial advisory panel met to provide counsel and 
guidance on strategic matters pertaining to the journal.

The results of the readership survey in 2011 were shared with the 
panel members, with the results being generally positive, showing 
that readers were in favour of the revamped CPA Singapore journal 
format. 

As one of the issues facing the editorial team was the need to 
manage journal production costs, the panel gave their views on 
various proposals to manage or reduce the journal production 
costs. These included adopting an e-zine format and more cost-
efficient production methods.

The main objectives of the Committee are to address matters 
pertaining to the ICPAS Code of Professional Conduct and ethics 
(ICPAS ethics Code) and other ethical requirements, as well as to 
reiterate the significance of ethics to the accounting profession. 

during the year, the Committee considered developing additional 
resources and reference materials for members on ethical issues, 
such as featuring more case studies on the ICPAS ethics Centre to 
illustrate how the ICPAS ethics Code should be applied in practical 
situations to inculcate ethical values and mindsets in daily work 
activities.

Following the revision of the Code of ethics for Professional 
Accountants by the International Federation of Accountants' (IFAC) 
International ethics Standards board for Accountants (IeSbA), the 
Committee commenced discussion on updating the ICPAS ethics 
Code to be in line with international standards.

we also discussed IeSbA’s ed Proposed Changes to the Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants Related to Provisions 
Addressing a Breach of a Requirement of the Code.

The panel provided feedback and suggestions regarding the 
advertising options that are expected to increase revenue and 
offset journal production costs. Panel members also provided 
input on reducing the production costs of the journal, for example, 
by providing an online version that would eliminate printing and 
distribution costs, and which is also environmentally-friendly. 

bearing in mind the need to manage production costs, the advisory 
panel approved the use of a different type of printing paper which 
is of comparable quality, and this is expected to save the Institute 
about $18,000 a year in production costs for the journal.

CPA sINGAPORe eDITORIAL ADVIsORY PANeL

ernest kan yaw kiong – Chairman Alfred Shee Ping Fatt 

lee Su Shyan – dy Chairman Sitoh yih Pin 

Tan Hun Tong – dy Chairman Tan boen eng 

Cheng nam Sang Anna Teo 

Stuart Pallister



buIldIng on FIRM FOUNDATIONs  AnnuAl RePoRT 2011/2012   37

The executive Committee (exco) comprising the President, vice 
President and Treasurer of the Institute is the executive arm of 
Council. exco meets monthly to deal with all matters relating to 
the development of broad policies and strategies, and exercises 
general oversight of the work programmes and initiatives of the 
Institute to ensure that these are aligned with the government’s 
strategic vision of transforming Singapore into an accountancy hub 
by 2020.

exco provided guidance and devoted significant time in the review 
of ICPAS Constitution to ensure that the revised Constitution is 
robust and consistent with that of a global professional accountancy 
body. The exco together with other Council members fronted a 
series of three town hall sessions which served as a conduit to 
inform members of the proposed amendments and solicit their 
feedback. The Institute received strong support for the proposed 
amendments. 

exco provided oversight of the review of ICPAS (Proceedings of 
Council) Rules and ICPAS (general meetings) Rules to address 
changes arising from the revised Constitution. The revised Rules 
have been approved by the Council in early 2012.

To prepare ICPAS for its next phase of expansion, the leadership 
team appointed the Institute’s first Chief executive officer. The 
Ceo is involved in charting the Institute’s strategic direction, and 
determining policy and strategy to drive the Institute forward. 
An executive director (Policy & Strategic Planning and Industry 
development) was also appointed to engage key stakeholders to 
shape policy development in the accountancy profession as well 
as drive strategic policy development and planning for the Institute. 

To support the development of the Institute into an accountancy 
body with global membership, outlook and standing, a sustainable 
funding mechanism is required. To this end, the exco initiated 
a review of the membership fee structure with a comprehensive 
review and benchmarking exercise against overseas professional 
fees. The fee increase was approved by the Council and 
implemented in two phases – in 2012 and 2013.

exco reviewed and endorsed a proposal to establish a members’ 
development Fund (mdF) to incentivise and support members’ 
professional development and expansion of competencies and 
skill sets.

during the year, exco continued to provide direction, guidance and 
input to the ICPAS QP team that works closely with the secretariat 
of the Pro-Tem SAC towards the development of the QP.

where relevant, the exco provided input and direction in respect 
of the work of the other committees of the Institute. exco 
recommended to Council the candidates for appointment to ICPAS 
committees and reviewed the rotation plan for these committees.

exco provided input on the brand advertising campaign which 
is targeted at young professionals and businesses, and the 
production of a corporate video.

exco has oversight over operational matters such as the annual 
budget and other financial matters, internal audit, staff salary 
adjustments and promotion exercise, procurement/tender 
procedures and the award of ICPAS medals to deserving 
members as well as the ICPAS Scholarship to accountancy 
undergraduates from nanyang Technological university (nTu) 
and Singapore management university (Smu).

exAMINATION COMMITTee

ernest kan yaw kiong – Chairman lim boon Cheng

Chee Hay kheong lim lian Soon

Ho yew kee Philip lee Jee Cheng 

exeCUTIVe COMMITTee

ernest kan yaw kiong – Chairman 

Sitoh yih Pin

Steven Phan Swee kim

The examination Committee continued to oversee the overall 
function of the ICPAS/ACCA Joint examination Scheme (JeS) 
for its ACCA Professional entry Route (PeR) and Foundations 
in Accountancy (FIA)/Certified Accounting Technician (CAT) 
qualifications.

we maintained a close working relationship with the 
Singapore examination team to analyse feedback and propose 
recommendations to ACCA on various solutions to improve work 
processes. This is to ensure that there is continual improvement on 
the quality of the Singapore adapted papers. The Committee also 
carried on approving both the appointments and re-appointments 
of examiners, assessors and inspectors for the Singapore variant 
and adapted papers.

The current JeS agreement will expire on 24 September 2012 
and will not be renewed. ICPAS and ACCA have started a series 
of discussions since July 2011 to establish an adequate and 
smooth transition arrangement and communication plan to inform 
JeS students. A joint taskforce team was formed to work on the 
transition arrangement. 

Following the discontinuation of the JeS, ICPAS and ACCA are 
entering into a new working relationship that offers different 
pathways and opportunities for all students who are embarking on 
the ACCA qualification.
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during the term, the Committee actively engaged industry groups 
and other organisations, explored new communication channels for 
outreach opportunities and held robust discussions on subjective 
financial reporting topics and issues. 

The Committee discussed with the Inland Revenue Authority of 
Singapore (IRAS) tax-related accounting issues and continually 
engaged the Accounting Standards Council (ASC) in reviewing 
new accounting proposals and discussing implementation issues.

1 The CORe sUB-COMMITTee
The Core Sub-Committee proactively engaged industry groups 
and other relevant agencies and organisations to communicate 
new or revised standards to the public. we also discussed and 
issued comment letters on the eds issued by IASb.

The Panel aims to promote education and knowledge of IT for members’ professional development, 
advise the Institute on IT matters in supporting its strategic objectives, and advance the profession’s 
interest in and exposure to IT. 

IMPLeMeNTATION OF sChOOL MANAGeMeNT sYsTeM (sMs)
The new School management System for SAA global education was officially launched on 14 
november 2011 in line with the commencement of enrolment for the ACCA & CAT January 2012 
intake. The second phase will see the implementation of more e-services such as online enrolment 
and electronic payment. The third phase will bring further collaboration of system functionalities to 
other divisions.

IMPLeMeNTATION OF New eNTeRPRIse sYsTeM (Nes)
The new enterprise System comprising three components – ICPAS members’ portal, Customer 
Relationship management (CRm) System and event management System, was officially launched on 
17 August 2011.

IMPLeMeNTATION OF New qP sYsTeM
we have given advice on the proposed IT system that best supports the Institute’s role as the 
administrator of the new post-university QP when the programme is implemented in 2013.

2 The eDUCATION sUB-COMMITTee
during the term, the education Sub-Committee developed a user-
friendly guide, The Singapore Financial Reporting Standard (SFRS) 
for Small Entities – What You Need to Know, aimed at helping 
business owners and preparers of financial statements understand 
the financial, accounting and operational implications of adopting 
the SFRS for small entities. we also actively engaged the Singapore 
Academy of law, Singapore Compact and Singapore International 
Chamber of Commerce via joint seminars.

3 The FOCUs GROUP sUB-COMMITTee
The Focus group Sub-Committee was engaged in discussions 
with the Real estate developers Association of Singapore to share 
observations on the accounting issues faced by the industry, and 
subsequently disseminate guidance to ICPAS members on the 
application of Interpretation to FRS (InT FRS) 115 Agreements for 
the Construction of Real Estate and its Accompanying note, with 
the assistance of the Core Sub-Committee.

FINANCIAL RePORTING COMMITTee

Tham Sai Choy – Chairman kok moi lre Pearl Tan Hock neo

Sajjad Akhtar Anthony mallek Tan Seng Choon

Shariq barmaky ng eng Juan Henry Tan Song kok

boon yoon Chiang ng Joo khin yeo ek khuan

Susan Foong Chooi Chin
(appointed 19 may 2011)

Tan boon Siong

INFORMATION TeChNOLOGY seRVICes ADVIsORY PANeL

lee Jeng wah – Chairman Tung lai lai

benjamin Chiang wing wai Thio Tse gan

lyon Poh leong yeow wilcox oei

Philip kwa Teow Huat yoong ee Chuan

Themin Suwardy
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The Committee held three meetings – on 13 and 28 July 2011 and 16 September 2011.

during the term, 118 sets of financial statements from 74 listed companies including newly-listed 
ones and 44 private limited companies were distributed for review. The Commitee’s industry focus for 
the current year is real estate, manufacturing and trading, commodities, energy, telecommunications 
and transport, shipping and shipbuilding, finance, stockbroking and insurance. 

These financial statements were reviewed by members working under six sub-committees. The Core 
Sub-Committee is chaired by Cheng Ai Phing and comprises the chairpersons of the following sub-
committees:

In the course of its reviews, the Committee highlighted to practising members areas where the 
presentation or content of the financial statements fall short of compliance with the Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards (SFRS) and other promulgations. members have put in effort and 
shown improvement in the standard of disclosure, though there were some boilerplate disclosures 
in the financial statements. A few practising members were found to be not conversant with the new 
and revised SFRS and SSAs; they were advised to take appropriate action to update themselves on 
the standards.

on 7 october 2011, we conducted a half-day seminar on observations from our reviews over the last 
12 months. we shared the top 10 findings and other topics of interest with the over-400 participants 
from accounting firms, statutory boards and various industries. 

FINANCIAL sTATeMeNTs ReVIew COMMITTee

Cheng Ai Phing – Chairperson lee eng kian Teo Chai Choo

Rick Chan Hock leong Paul leow Chung Chong yam Soon Tham Chee Soon

Chen voon Hoe leong kok keong Tiang yii

Choo eng beng Philip ling Soo Hwa Joseph Toh kian leong

goh Swee Hong ng Hock lee david Jason waller

Ho kok yong Pong Siew Inn woo e-Sah

kok moi lre Poon yew wah wilson woo

lai keng wei douglas Tan kay yeow James xu Jun

david Anthony leaver Tan Swee Ho yeo boon Chye

sUB-COMMITTee ChAIRPeRsON

1 kok moi lre 

2 david Anthony leaver

3 yeo boon Chye

4 goh Swee Hong 

5 Tan Swee Ho

6 Joseph Toh kian leong
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members of the Committee had engaged in activities which provided updates on current regulatory 
requirements and raised awareness of insolvency legislation. Two members contributed actively as 
panellists in a seminar jointly organised by IRAS, Insolvency Practitioners Association of Singapore 
(IPAS) and the Institute to update insolvency practitioners on the filing requirements for companies in 
liquidation. The Chairman, on behalf of the Committee, had written to the media to clarify the process 
of striking off a company. 

we are currently drafting recommended Insolvency Practice guidelines for Insolvency Practitioners so 
as to benchmark the standards of practitioners against the best in the industry.

The Committee places great importance on raising the competency of insolvency practitioners 
through training and continual professional education and looks forward to further supporting the 
Institute through the facilitation of courses on insolvency and restructuring.

2011 marks a year of renewal for the Committee as we welcomed four new members. we would also 
like to express our appreciation to the immediate past members for their dedication and contributions. 

The Committee held several meetings in the year to solicit feedback and provide useful 
recommendations to stakeholders on accounting and auditing matters pertaining to the insurance 
industry. we were also tasked to review the specimen insurance-related auditor’s reports found in 
AgS 1 Sample Independent Auditor’s Reports.

As part of the Annual dialogue Session between mAS’ Insurance department and ICPAS, the 
Committee met with key officers from mAS in november 2011 for an exchange of views on various 
matters pertaining to the audit of insurance companies in Singapore.

INsURANCe COMMITTee

mak keat meng – Chairman Jeremy Hoon Ching Sing

woo Shea leen – dy Chairman
(appointed 6 June 2011) 

Jason neo Choong Hua
(appointed 6 June 2011)

Tony Cheong Jin keat
(appointed 29 June 2011)

Phillip Tan eng Seong

giam ei leen
(appointed 19 may 2011) 

INsOLVeNCY PRACTICes COMMITTee

don Ho mun-Tuke – Chairman victor goh yeow kiang

Tam Chee Chong – dy Chairman leow Quek Shiong 

Aw eng Hai neo ban Chuan 

Chan yee Hong Seshadri Rajagopalan 

Chee yoh Chuang Timothy James Reid 

goh Thien Phong
(appointed 20 may 2011)

bob yap Cheng ghee
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during the year, the Committee referred three cases against non-Practising members to the 
disciplinary Committee, with the recommendation that two members be removed from the register of 
members and one member be suspended for a period of three months. 

Investigation into four other cases against members are ongoing.

As there was a conflict of interest, a separate Investigation Committee comprising the following 
members was set up to hear another case against a non-Practising member:

The Committee is responsible for the review of membership matters and to make monthly 
recommendations to the Council on the admission of Associate and CPA Singapore members and 
fellows, as well as membership reclassifications, resignations, reinstatements, removal of members 
for non-payment of annual subscription fees and other related matters.

Through the active outreach campaign to drive awareness among the key target markets, our 
membership growth has maintained its upward trend; the Institute’s membership surpassed the 
24,000th mark in July 2011.

In August 2011, member Services department rolled out a new membership system that not only 
meets the needs of members and serves them better, it enhances the security level of members’ 
confidential information.

The member Services department continued to actively engage more CPA firms in building good 
relations and providing better support on membership-related matters. The Accredited employer 
Scheme has created more awareness resulting in an increase in the number of members joining the 
Institute. The member Services department will continue its great efforts to enlarge the list of CPA 
firms under this scheme.

Having heard and deliberated on the case, the Committee decided that no further action need be 
taken against the said member.

INVesTIGATION COMMITTee

gerard ee Hock kim – Chairman ong Sim Ho 

khoo Ho Tong nagaraj Sivaram 

lee Chow Soon – lay Person kelvin Tan wee Peng 

MeMBeRshIP COMMITTee

khoo Ho Tong – Chairman Peter Chay Fook yuen

yeoh oon Jin – dy Chairman wong lai yong 

khoo Teng Aun yang Ching Chao 

Ho yew kee

khoo Ho Tong – Chairman kelvin Tan wee Peng

ong Sim Ho Ashvinkumar s/o kantilal – lay Person
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PUBLIC ACCOUNTING PRACTICe COMMITTee

lim boon Cheng – Chairman michael Heng yeow meng

lisa liew geok bee – dy Chairperson John lim geok Peng

Raymond Chan Tuck Chee
(appointed 20 September 2011)

lim yeong Seng

Philip Siew Tin gin 

Frankie Chia Soo Hien Helen Sim Cheng geok

Francis Chin yoke lan
(appointed 20 September 2011)

The Committee considers issues relating to the public accounting profession, especially matters 
affecting SmPs.

The Lo Hei lunch at Hotel Intercontinental Singapore on 17 February 2011 provided practitioners with 
an ideal platform for networking and exchanging ideas. It also gave members the opportunity to get 
together and celebrate the beginning of a fruitful year.

The Committee believes that the ICPAS Audit Manual for Small Companies is an important practical 
auditing reference for SmPs. The successful launch of the revised manual in April 2011 and the 
subsequent incorporation of the updated auditing procedures into the course materials of the ICPAS 
Structured Audit Core Training programmes will provide additional resources for SmPs to enhance 
their audit quality. we will continue to monitor the development of e-learning courses in the market 
and explore initiatives which will help the profession.

during the year, the Institute, on the recommendation of the Committee and the approval of the 
Council, provided its comments on ACRA’s Consultation Papers on the Review of the Accountants 
Act (Parts one and Two). 
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ADVIsOR
Teo Ser luck
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ernest kan yaw kiong – President
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note froM the treAsurer

looking forward, we have the collective responsibility to ensure that 
the Institute fortifies its efforts towards achieving its vision. It will no 
doubt be challenging given the ongoing economic uncertainty and 
possible inflationary pressures. This calls for the Institute to inject 
greater discipline in maintaining costs and reducing liabilities, rigor 
in optimising its working capital and commitment in maximising 
new and existing revenue channels.

To this end, the Institute will strive to expand its professional 
membership base and open avenues for student membership. It 
will explore consolidating training and membership service venues 
to ensure that existing resources are utilized efficiently, as well as 
capable of generating additional revenue streams from new courses 
and academic undertakings, including increasing post graduate 
degrees, undergraduate degrees, advanced diploma and post-
university accountancy professional qualification programmmes. 
The current operational venues are functioning at near or 
maximum capacity, which will necessitate seeking new locations 
to further enable the Institute to grow its core competencies. Thus, 
investments will be necessary to position the Institute favourable 
for the longer term. yet, these will be undertaken with financial 
prudence to ensure that the Institute continually replenishes its 
reserves for other value-adding initiatives in the pipeline. 

lastly, I thank our members, the Council, the boards of directors, 
and the group for their active and dedicated support.

Steven Phan
Treasurer
Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore

our financial performance for Financial year 2011 was a reflection 
of the Institute’s continuing long-term investment in enhancing its 
operations and focus on strengthening its training and membership 
revenues. 

The group reported total income of $25 million and total expenditure 
of $20.7 million in Fy2011. while it saw an 8.3% growth in income, 
the group’s overall financial performance was moderated by a 
16.9% hike in expenditure amounting to $3.4 million. 

The growth in group income can be attributed to the Institute’s 
efforts in driving its training receipts and membership dues. 2011 
marked the second year the Institute operated its education arm 
as a separate entity, SAA global education Centre Pte ltd (SAA-
ge). with focused and dedicated efforts on the operations of 
SAA-ge, training revenue climbed by $1 million. Similarly, course 
revenue from ICPAS Continuing Professional education (CPe) also 
increased by $0.5 million due to higher market demand and the 
offering of an expanded range of relevant CPe courses. In may 
2010, the group also launched the Singapore Institute of Accredited 
Tax Professional (SIATP), which served as a new revenue stream 
to contribute $0.5 million through membership dues.  

The increase in income was offset by increase in expenditure 
that was necessary to enable the Institute to enhance its 
productivity, capabilities and infrastructure for long-term 
operational sustainability. In 2011, investments were made in 
manpower resources and software enhancements to enable key 
businesses to scale up, and be more effective and efficient. In 
particular, investments in staff costs increased by $1.2 million. To 
better meet the expanded needs of SAA-ge for its new academic 
programmes, SAA-ge also invested an additional $0.7 million in 
talent resources.

overall, at the close of the financial year, the group saw a decline 
of $1.5 million in net surplus compared with 2010, ignoring the 
effects of impairment loss adjustments. despite this decline, ICPAS’ 
financial position is healthy. It saw an improvement in working 
capital of $8.8 million, an increase of $2 million from 2010. This 
arose from favourable cash reserves of $17 million accumulated 
over the years. of these reserves, $6 million is maintained in 
current accounts to facilitate meeting of monthly expenditure as 
well as repayment of existing trade payables. 

The consolidated balance sheet of the group reflects total 
assets of $52.8 million at 31 december 2011. This represents 
approximately a $5.3 million or 11.1% increase from 2010, while 
total liabilities increased by approximately 9.6% over the same 
period to $9.7 million.  The increase in assets arose mainly from 
increase in cash surpluses and write-back of impairment loss while 
higher accrued operating expenses accounted for the increase in 
liabilities. Improved cash reserves raised liquidity ratio to 191% 
from 176% in 2010.
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statement BY cOUncil

On behalf of the Council of the Institute of Certified public accountants of Singapore (the “Institute”), we, ernest Kan and Steven phan, 

being the president and treasurer respectively, do hereby state that in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group 

and financial statements of the Institute set out on pages 48 to 75 are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 

Societies act and Singapore Financial reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the 

Institute as at 31 December 2011 and of its results, changes in accumulated fund and miscellaneous fund and cash flows of the Group 

and the Institute for the financial year ended on that date.

ernest Kan  steven phan
president  treasurer

Date : 23 February 2012
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inDePenDent aUDitOR’s RePORt
tO MeMBerS OF tHe INStItUte OF CertIFIeD pUBLIC aCCOUNtaNtS OF SINGapOre

Report on the Financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Institute of Certified public accountants of Singapore (the “Institute”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 48 to 75, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Institute 
as at 31 December 2011, the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in the accumulated fund and miscellaneous 
fund and statements of cash flows of the Group and the Institute for the financial year then ended and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

The Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
the Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the provisions of the 
Societies act and Singapore Financial reporting Standards, and for such internal control as Council determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Singapore Standards on auditing. those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. the 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Council, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the financial statements of the Institute are properly drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Societies act and Singapore Financial reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group and of the Institute at 31 December 2011 and the results, changes in accumulated fund and miscellaneous 
fund and cash flows of the Group and the Institute for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the regulations enacted under the Societies act to be kept by the Institute 
have been properly kept in accordance with those regulations.

Baker tilly tFW LLp
public accountants and
Certified public accountants
Singapore

Date : 23 February 2012
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group Institute

Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $
secretariat

continuing operations

Income for the year
Members’ annual and admission fees 3 3,774,071 3,740,160 3,774,071 3,740,160
Other income 5 2,864,737 2,178,245 3,590,917 2,959,017
total income 6,638,808 5,918,405 7,364,988 6,699,177

less expenditure
Finance costs (452) (1,804) (452) (1,804)

Operating expenses (excluding impairment) (9,167,528) (7,123,731) (11,083,089) (8,586,799)
Write-back of impairment loss/
 (impairment loss) of freehold land and building 11, 12 2,603,092 (8,408,927) 2,603,092 (8,408,927)

total operating expenses (6,564,436) (15,532,658) (8,479,997) (16,995,726)

total expenditure (6,564,888) (15,534,462) (8,480,449) (16,997,530)

Net surplus/(deficit) from secretariat before tax 73,920 (9,616,057) (1,115,461) (10,298,353)

Training Division

continuing operations

Income for the year
Income from training and other courses 4 18,179,273 16,715,262 7,142,978 6,402,295
Other income 5 170,346 446,244 170,346 223,576
total income 18,349,619 17,161,506 7,313,324 6,625,871

less expenditure
Finance costs (3,072) (8,310) (3,072) (4,347)
Operating expenses (14,168,986) (12,839,884) (4,388,358) (3,364,062)
total expenditure (14,172,058) (12,848,194) (4,391,430) (3,368,409)

Net surplus from Training Division
 from continuing operations before tax 4,177,561 4,313,312 2,921,894 3,257,462

Discontinued operations
Net surplus from training Division from
 discontinued operations before tax – – – 267,640
total surplus from training Division before tax 4,177,561 4,313,312 2,921,894 3,525,102

Total surplus/(deficit) before share of
 associates’ results and tax 4,251,481 (5,302,745) 1,806,433 (6,773,251)

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

statements Of cOmPReHensiVe incOme
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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statements Of cOmPReHensiVe incOme (cOnt’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

group Institute

Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $
combined

continuing operations

Income for the year
Members’ annual and admission fees 3 3,774,071 3,740,160 3,774,071 3,740,160
Income from training and other courses 4 18,179,273 16,715,262 7,142,978 6,402,295
Other income 5 3,035,083 2,624,489 3,761,263 3,182,593
total income 24,988,427 23,079,911 14,678,312 13,325,048

less expenditure
Finance costs 6 (3,524) (10,114) (3,524) (6,151)

Operating expenses (excluding impairment) (23,336,514) (19,963,615) (15,471,447) (11,950,861)
Write-back of impairment loss/
   (impairment loss) of freehold land and building 11, 12 2,603,092 (8,408,927) 2,603,092 (8,408,927)

total operating expenses (20,733,422) (28,372,542) (12,868,355) (20,359,788)

Net surplus/(deficit) from operating activities 4,251,481 (5,302,745) 1,806,433 (7,040,891)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates (net of tax) 7,210 (12,767) – –

Net surplus/(deficit) before tax from
   continuing operations 4,258,691 (5,315,512) 1,806,433 (7,040,891)
Income tax credit/(expense) 7 150,074 (601,920) 214,959 (299,733)

Net surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations 4,408,765 (5,917,432) 2,021,392 (7,340,624)

Discontinued operations
Net surplus from discontinued operations 9 – – – 243,836

Total surplus/(deficit) for the year 10 4,408,765 (5,917,432) 2,021,392 (7,096,788)

surplus in miscellaneous fund 21,509 10,428 21,509 10,428

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 4,430,274 (5,907,004) 2,042,901 (7,086,360)

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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group Institute

Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $
Non-current assets
property, plant and equipment 11 33,623,810 31,832,049 14,091,031 14,687,707
Investment property 12 – – 19,111,007 16,639,605
Investment in subsidiaries 13 – – 300,003 300,003
Investment in associates 14 95,425 88,215 – –
Deferred tax assets 15 142,000 34,715 142,000 34,715
Intangible assets 16 491,580 17,234 133,914 17,234

34,352,815 31,972,213 33,777,955 31,679,264

current assets
Inventories – 12,921 – 12,921
trade and other receivables 17 1,313,461 1,645,591 1,785,904 1,516,463
Cash and cash equivalents 18 17,091,376 13,851,717 7,433,080 7,691,202

18,404,837 15,510,229 9,218,984 9,220,586

Total assets 52,757,652 47,482,442 42,996,939 40,899,850

Non-current liabilities
Finance lease liabilities 19 – 1,876 – 1,876
Deferred tax liabilities 15 23,000 – – –

23,000 1,876 – 1,876

current liabilities
trade and other payables 20 4,769,191 3,074,594 3,578,869 3,151,508
Course fees received in advance 3,806,801 4,075,878 250,341 194,623
Subscription fees received in advance 950,123 897,630 827,523 769,005
Finance lease liabilities 19 – 97,560 – 97,560
Current tax payable 109,715 666,356 – 387,973

9,635,830 8,812,018 4,656,733 4,600,669

Total liabilities 9,658,830 8,813,894 4,656,733 4,602,545

Net assets 43,098,822 38,668,548 38,340,206 36,297,305

Represented by
accumulated fund 43,044,515 38,635,750 38,285,899 36,264,507
Miscellaneous fund 21 54,307 32,798 54,307 32,798

43,098,822 38,668,548 38,340,206 36,297,305

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance sHeets 
at 31 December 2011
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Accumulated Miscellaneous
fund fund Total

$ $ $
group

Balance at 1 January 2010 44,553,182 22,370 44,575,552

(Deficit)/surplus and total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (5,917,432) 10,428 (5,907,004)

Balance at 31 December 2010 38,635,750 32,798 38,668,548

Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 4,408,765 21,509 4,430,274

Balance at 31 December 2011 43,044,515 54,307 43,098,822

Institute

Balance at 1 January 2010 43,361,295 22,370 43,383,665

(Deficit)/surplus and total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (7,096,788) 10,428 (7,086,360)

Balance at 31 December 2010 36,264,507 32,798 36,297,305

Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 2,021,392 21,509 2,042,901

Balance at 31 December 2011 38,285,899 54,307 38,340,206

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

statements Of cHanGes in accUmUlateD fUnD anD 
miscellaneOUs fUnD
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $
cash flows from operating activities
Net surplus/(deficit) before tax from continuing operations 4,258,691 (5,315,512) 1,806,433 (7,040,891)
Net surplus before tax from discontinued operations (Note 9) – – – 267,640

Net surplus/(deficit) before tax, total 4,258,691 (5,315,512) 1,806,433 (6,773,251)

adjustments for:
Depreciation, (write-back of impairment loss)/ impairment 
 loss and amortisation of property, plant and 
 equipment, investment property and intangible assets (1,519,219) 9,530,194 (1,704,231) 9,379,645
Interest on finance leases 3,524 10,114 3,524 6,151
Interest income (32,832) (27,428) (21,922) (23,711)
property, plant and equipment written off 3,320 21,863 820 –
Share of (profits)/losses of associates (7,210) 12,767 – –

Operating surplus before working capital changes 2,706,274 4,231,998 84,624 2,588,834

Inventories 12,921 2,773 12,921 2,773
receivables 344,875 (542,214) (262,881) 886,000
payables 1,694,597 220,578 420,799 (905,402)
Course fees received in advance (269,077) 455,074 55,718 (3,426,181)
Subscription fees received in advance 52,493 (611,632) 58,518 (612,592)
Miscellaneous fund 21,509 10,428 21,509 10,428

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 4,563,592 3,767,005 391,208 (1,456,140)
Income tax paid (490,852) (1,264,061) (280,298) (1,246,671)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 4,072,740 2,502,944 110,910 (2,702,811)

cash flows from investing activities
acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 13) – – – (300,000)
Fixed deposit pledged (67) (15,000) – –
Interest received 20,087 26,716 21,922 23,112
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,534 16,989 4,534 589,625
purchase of property, plant and equipment (259,052) (392,286) (163,228) (287,774)
purchase of computer software (495,690) – (129,300) –
purchase of intellectual property – (19,388) – (19,388)

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (730,188) (382,969) (266,072) 5,575

cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid on finance leases (3,524) (10,114) (3,524) (6,151)
repayment of finance lease liabilities (99,436) (112,191) (99,436) (112,191)

Net cash used in financing activities (102,960) (122,305) (102,960) (118,342)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
 equivalents from continuing operations 3,239,592 1,997,670 (258,122) (2,815,578)
cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13,836,717 11,839,047 7,691,202 10,506,780

cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 18) 17,076,309 13,836,717 7,433,080 7,691,202

the accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

statements Of casH flOWs
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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these notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1 corporate information

 the Institute (rOS ref. No. 0137/2004) is the national organisation of the accountancy profession in Singapore. It was established 
in June 1963 as the Singapore Society of accountants (SSa) under the SSa Ordinance 1963, then reconstituted and renamed 
the Institute of Certified public accountants of Singapore (ICpaS) on 11 February 1989 under the accountants act 1987. as 
of 1 april 2004, ICpaS is reconstituted as a society under the Societies act. the restructuring is primarily a change of form for 
the Institute as ICpaS continues to be the national body for the accountancy profession in Singapore and its functions remain 
unchanged.  the registered office of the Institute is located at 20 aljunied road, #06-02 Cpa House, Singapore 389805.

 the principal activities of the Institute are those of administering the Institute’s membership, catering for the training and 
professional development of its members.

 the consolidated financial statements relate to the Institute and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the Group’s 
interests in associates.

2 significant accounting policies

a) Basis of preparation

the financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the Societies act and Singapore Financial 
reporting Standards (FrS). 

the financial statements, which are presented in Singapore dollars (“$”), have been prepared on historical cost basis 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

the accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and the Institute and are consistent with those used 
in the previous financial year.

the preparation of financial statements in conformity with FrS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of profit or loss during the financial year. although these estimates are based on 
the Council’s best knowledge of current events and actions and historical experiences and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. the areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 2(t).

In the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised FrS and Interpretations of FrS (“INt FrS”) 
that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current financial year.

the adoption of these new/revised FrS has no material effect on the financial statements.

the Group has not applied the following new/revised FrS or interpretations that have been issued as of the balance sheet 
date but are not yet effective: 

FrS 19 employee Benefits
FrS 27 Separate Financial Statements
FrS 28 Investments in associates and Joint Ventures
FrS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements
FrS 111 Joint arrangements
FrS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other entities
FrS 113 Fair Value Measurements
amendments to FrS 1 presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
amendments to FrS 12 Deferred tax: recovery of Underlying assets
amendments to FrS 101 Severe Hyperinflation and removal of Fixed Dates for First-time adopters
amendments to FrS 107 Disclosures -transfers of Financial assets

the initial application of these standards and interpretations, where applicable, are not expected to have any material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group and financial statements of the Institute.

nOtes tO tHe financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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nOtes tO tHe financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2 significant accounting policies (cont’d)

b) Consolidation

Subsidiaries

a subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. the financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date of the control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group transactions and 
balances are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

associates

associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over their financial and 
operating policies. the Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. the consolidated 
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss of the associates from the date that significant influence 
commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in 
an associate, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to zero and the 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments 
on behalf of the associate.

accounting for subsidiaries and associates by the Institute

In the Institute’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less 
impairment losses.

c) Functional and foreign currencies

Functional currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using the currency that best reflects the economic 
substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Institute and its subsidiaries (“the functional 
currency”). the consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars (“$”), which is the functional 
currency of the Institute and its subsidiaries.

Foreign currencies

transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate in effect at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are 
translated into the functional currency at the rates ruling at that date. all exchange differences are taken to profit or loss.

d) Inventories

Inventories, comprising accounting books and manuals, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
calculated using the first-in, first-out method.

e) property, plant and equipment

 property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

 Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and costs of bringing the asset to 
working condition for its intended use. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of 
asset if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration costs is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using 
the asset.  expenditure for additions, improvements and renewals are capitalised and expenditure for maintenance and 
repairs are charged to profit or loss. the cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised 
in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to 
the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. the costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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nOtes tO tHe financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2 significant accounting policies (cont’d)

e) property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost less residual 
value of the assets over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold buildings 50 years
Furniture and office equipment 3 to 10 years
Computers 3 to 4 years
renovation 3 to 5 years

 Freehold land is not depreciated.

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each financial year-
end.

 an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the 
year the asset is derecognised.

f) Investment property

Investment property comprises significant portion of freehold buildings that the Institute leased out to its subsidiary to 
earn rental. Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
the depreciable amounts over the estimated useful life of 50 years. 

transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. When transfer is made between 
investment property and owner-occupied property, its carrying amount (cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment) at the date of transfer becomes its carrying amount for subsequent accounting.

On disposal of investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised 
in profit or loss.

g) Intangible assets

acquired intellectual property is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the intellectual property over their estimated 
useful lives of 3 years.

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. amortisation is 
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the computer software over their estimated useful lives 
of 5 years.

h) Impairment of non-financial assets

 the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

 an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. a cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely 
are independent from other assets and groups.  

 the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use.  In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit.
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nOtes tO tHe financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2 significant accounting policies (cont’d)

h) Impairment of non-financial assets (cont'd)

 Impairment losses recognised in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists.  an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss has 
been recognised.  reversal of impairment loss is recorded in profit or loss.  after such a reversal, the depreciation charge 
is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis 
over its remaining useful life.

i)  Financial assets

i) Classification

the Group classifies its financial assets according to the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every 
reporting date. the Group’s only financial assets are loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. they are included in current assets, except those maturing later than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables excluding prepayments are 
presented as “trade and other receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” on the balance sheet.

ii) recognition and derecognition

regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership. On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the net sale proceeds 
and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss. any amount in the fair value reserve relating to that asset 
is also transferred to profit or loss.

iii) Initial measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value.  transaction costs for financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss are recognised as expenses.

iv) Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment.

Interest income on financial assets are recognised separately in profit or loss.

v) Impairment

the Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired.

Loans and receivables

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the receivable is impaired.

the carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment loss recognised in profit or loss. 
the impairment loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are recognised against the same line item in profit or loss.
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nOtes tO tHe financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2 significant accounting policies (cont’d)

j)  Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities include trade payables, other amounts payable and interest-bearing loans.  Financial liabilities are 
recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value of consideration received less directly 
attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

 Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation 
process. the liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.

k) provisions

 provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where, as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of the 
provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

l) Leases

Finance leases

Leases of assets in which the Group assumes substantially the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. property, plant and equipment acquired through finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the 
lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to the initial recognition, the 
asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are charged to profit or loss.

Operating leases

 Lessee

 Leases where significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are taken to 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

 When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor 
by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

 Lessor

 Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as operating 
leases. rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

m) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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nOtes tO tHe financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2 significant accounting policies (cont’d)

n) revenue recognition

 revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured.

 Members’ annual and admission fees are recognised when due.

 Course fees (from continuing professional education and training) are recognised when the services are rendered.

 Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues based on effective interest method unless collectibility is in doubt.

 rental income from operating leases are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 Sundry income, includes sale of Members’ Handbooks, which are recognised when the goods sold are delivered and 
subvention fees which are recognised when received for the current financial year.

o) Government grants

 Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as 
deferred capital grant on the balance sheet and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant 
asset by equal annual instalments.

 When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them on 
a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

p) employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

as required by law, the Group makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the Central provident Fund (CpF) 
Scheme which is a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to CpF are recognised as expense in the period 
in which the related service is performed.

employee leave entitlement

employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. the estimated liability for leave is 
recognised for services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date. 

q) Income tax

 Income tax for the financial year comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

 Deferred tax is recognised, using the balance sheet method, providing for all temporary differences at the balance sheet 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit.

 Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

 a deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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2 significant accounting policies (cont’d)

r) Borrowing costs

all borrowing costs that are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds are recognised as 
expense using the effective interest method in the period in which they are incurred except for borrowings costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that necessarily take a substantial 
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until all the 
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are substantially completed.  

s) Discontinued operations

a component of the Group is classified as a “discontinued operation” when the criteria to be classified as held for 
sale have been met or it has been disposed of and such a component represents a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations or is part of a single coordinated major line of business or geographical area of operations. 
a component is deemed to be held for sale if its carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use.

t) Significant accounting estimates and judgements

i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property

the cost of property, plant and equipment and investment property are depreciated on a straight-line basis  over 
their respective useful lives.  Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment and 
investment property to be within 3 to 50 years. the carrying amount of the Group and Institute’s property, plant 
and equipment and investment property as at 31 December 2011 are stated in Notes 11 and 12. Changes in the 
expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual 
values of these assets. therefore future depreciation charges could be revised and impact the profit in future 
years. 

ii) Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

there are no significant judgements made in applying accounting policies in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

3 Members’ annual and admission fees

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Members annual fees 3,312,741 3,129,390 3,312,741 3,129,390
Members admission fees 461,330 610,770 461,330 610,770

3,774,071 3,740,160 3,774,071 3,740,160

4 Income from training and other courses

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Income from Cpe 2,824,093 2,320,772 2,824,093 2,320,772
Income from other training courses 15,355,180 14,394,490 4,318,885 4,081,523

18,179,273 16,715,262 7,142,978 6,402,295
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5 Other income

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $
secretariat
registration and subscription fees 1,250,499 730,175 – –
Interest income from bank deposits and
  bank balances 32,832 27,428 21,922 23,711
Management fee charged to subsidiaries
  and associates 6,800 6,800 948,031 857,905
practice Monitoring income 304,292 241,092 304,292 241,092
Government grant - jobs credit scheme – 33,179 – 31,382
Seminar and talk fees 631,560 524,694 553,195 504,744
rental income 13,051 – 1,399,758 1,090,398
Sundry income 625,703 614,877 363,719 209,785

2,864,737 2,178,245 3,590,917 2,959,017

Training Division
Government grant - jobs credit scheme – 31,574 – 12,499
Seminar and talk fees 51,715 91,385 51,715 91,287
rental income – 83,350 – 800
Sundry income 118,631 239,935 118,631 118,990

170,346 446,244 170,346 223,576
3,035,083 2,624,489 3,761,263 3,182,593

6 Finance costs 

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Interest on finance leases 3,524 10,114 3,524 6,151

7 Income tax (credit)/expense

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $
tax (credit)/expense attributable to profits is made up of:

From continuing operations
Current income tax 109,715 591,906 – 289,719
Deferred tax (84,285) – (107,285) –

25,430 591,906 (107,285) 289,719
(Over)/under provision of income tax in prior year (175,504) 10,014 (107,674) 10,014

(150,074) 601,920 (214,959) 299,733

From discontinued operations
Current income tax (Note 9) – – – 23,804

(150,074) 601,920 (214,959) 323,537
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7 Income tax (credit)/expense (cont'd)

 the income tax (credit)/expense on the results of the financial year varies from the amount of income tax determined by applying 
the Singapore statutory rate of income tax to total surplus/(deficit) before tax due to the following factors:

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Net surplus/(deficit) before tax from
 continuing operations 4,258,691 (5,315,512) 1,806,433 (7,040,891)
Net surplus before tax from
 discontinued operations – – – 267,640
total surplus/(deficit) before tax 4,258,691 (5,315,512) 1,806,433 (6,773,251)

tax calculated at a tax rate of 17% 723,977 (903,637) 307,094 (1,151,453)
Singapore statutory stepped income exemption (67,000) (79,996) – (25,925)
Income not subject to tax (442,532) (10,703) (442,528) (10,703)
expenses not deductible for tax purposes 102,053 1,530,794 87,297 1,518,730
effect of tax incentive* (287,411) – (76,647) –
Utilisation of deferred tax assets
 previously not recognised (25,000) – – –
Deferred tax assets not recognised – 57,095 – –
(Over)/under provision of income tax in prior year (175,504) 10,014 (107,674) 10,014
Others 21,343 (1,647) 17,499 (17,126)

(150,074) 601,920 (214,959) 323,537

 * Tax incentive for the Group and the Institute arose from the Productivity and Innovation Credit scheme.

8 staff costs  

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Salaries and bonuses 8,727,455 6,979,375 5,874,152 4,863,581
CpF 1,004,339 804,178 670,492 536,364
Other employee benefit expenses 419,523 374,082 326,268 293,133

10,151,317 8,157,635 6,870,912 5,693,078

 Increase in staff costs arose from the Institute’s effort to strengthen its human capabilities in response to the Committee to Develop 
the accountancy Sector’s (“CDaS”) recommendation to transform ICpaS into a professional body with global membership, 
outlook and standing and secondly to broaden the scope of its services to members. the examinations and Qualifications 
Division was strengthened to work closely with the pro-tem Singapore accountancy Council in developing a Singapore-branded, 
post university professional accountancy qualification. New divisions for policy and strategic planning and industry development 
have been set up. Increase in staff costs of the Group arose from the expansion of Saa Global education Centre pte. Ltd. (“Saa 
Ge”) to support new academic programmes and an increase in its marketing efforts.   

9 Discontinued operations - Institute

 In 2010, the Institute incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary, Saa Ge and transferred its private education business division to 
Saa Ge on 8 March 2010. 

 the Institute transferred the assets and liabilities of the private education business division at its carrying amounts to Saa Ge. 
Consequently, no gain or loss is recognised to profit or loss. 
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9 Discontinued operations - Institute (cont'd)

 In accordance with Singapore Financial reporting Standard 105 “Non-current assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, 
the Institute’s results and cash flows for the previous financial year were presented separately as continuing operations and 
discontinued operations following the transfer of the above mentioned business.

 a) an analysis of the results of discontinued operations is as follows:

2011 2010

$ $ 
Income for the year
Income from other training courses – 1,650,633
Other income – 222,668
total income – 1,873,301

less expenditure
Finance costs – 3,963
Operating expenses – 1,601,698
total expenditure – 1,605,661

Surplus before tax from discontinued operations – 267,640
Income tax expense (Note 7) – (23,804)
Surplus after tax from discontinued operations – 243,836

b) an analysis of the cash flows of discontinued operations is as follows:

2011 2010

$ $ 

Operating activities – (2,601,500)
Investing activities – 253,905
Financing activities – –
Net cash flows – (2,347,595)

10 Total surplus/(deficit) for the year

 this is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 1,062,529 1,119,113 754,551 836,874
Depreciation of investment property (Note 12) – – 131,690 131,690
(Write-back of impairment loss)/ impairment loss 
 of freehold land and building (Note 11 and 12) (2,603,092) 8,408,927 (2,603,092) 8,408,927
amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) 21,344 2,154 12,620 2,154
Direct costs of providing training and other courses 4,141,928 4,118,820 1,322,129 1,766,155
Foreign exchange loss 65 301 65 301
Impairment loss on trade receivables 96,110 8,392 94,574 7,532
property, plant and equipment written off 3,320 21,863 820 –
rental expenses 991,082 1,110,764 799,278 801,067
accrual for contribution to the
 accounting Sector Development Fund 1,000,000 – 1,000,000 –
Staff costs (Note 8) 10,151,317 8,157,635 6,870,912 5,693,078
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11 property, plant and equipment

group
Furniture

Freehold Freehold and office

land buildings equipment Computers renovation total

$ $ $ $ $ $

cost
Balance as at 
 1 January 2010 20,176,000 21,706,764 1,710,940 1,548,007 1,100,404 46,242,115
additions – – 131,031 161,485 99,770 392,286
Disposals – – (40,503) – – (40,503)
Written off – – (33,366) (12,865) (6,519) (52,750)

Balance as at 
 31 December 2010 20,176,000 21,706,764 1,768,102 1,696,627 1,193,655 46,541,148
additions – – 51,573 207,479 – 259,052
Disposals – – (22,596) – – (22,596)
Written off – – (10,665) (40,592) – (51,257)

Balance as at 
 31 December 2011 20,176,000 21,706,764 1,786,414 1,863,514 1,193,655 46,726,347

Accumulated
 depreciation and
 impairment
Balance as at 
 1 January 2010 – 2,588,425 911,549 1,114,062 621,424 5,235,460
Depreciation charge  
 for the year (Note 10) – 434,135 283,914 241,608 159,456 1,119,113
Disposals – – (23,514) – – (23,514)
Written off – – (18,329) (6,040) (6,518) (30,887)
Impairment loss 7,397,595 1,011,332 – – – 8,408,927

Balance as at 
 31 December 2010 7,397,595 4,033,892 1,153,620 1,349,630 774,362 14,709,099
Depreciation charge  
 for the year (Note 10) – 434,135 236,378 225,843 166,173 1,062,529
Disposals – – (18,062) – – (18,062)
Written off – – (8,165) (39,772) – (47,937)
Write-back of
 impairment loss (1,591,760) (1,011,332) – – – (2,603,092)

Balance as at 
  31 December 2011 5,805,835 3,456,695 1,363,771 1,535,701 940,535 13,102,537

carrying amount
Balance as at 
 31 December 2010 12,778,405 17,672,872 614,482 346,997 419,293 31,832,049
Balance as at 
 31 December 2011 14,370,165 18,250,069 422,643 327,813 253,120 33,623,810

 as at balance sheet date, the market value of the 2 properties as determined by independent professional valuer were $47,919,000 
(2010: $40,893,000) collectively. Cpa House was valued at $21,589,000 (2010: $16,893,000) and #23-00, 6 raffles Quay 
valued at $26,330,000 (2010: $24,000,000).
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11 property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 group (cont’d)

 the Cpa House is classified as an investment property in the Institute’s balance sheet as it is substantially leased out to its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Saa Ge. However in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet, this is classified as property, plant and equipment.

Institute

Furniture

Freehold Freehold and office

land buildings equipment Computers renovation total

$ $ $ $ $ $

cost
Balance as at 
 1 January 2010 20,176,000 21,706,764 1,710,940 1,548,007 1,100,404 46,242,115
additions – – 83,303 131,666 72,805 287,774
Disposals* – – (577,702) (408,468) (499,193) (1,485,363)
Written off – – (16,724) (6,040) (6,519) (29,283)
reclassified to investment
 property (Note 12) (20,176,000) (6,584,502) – – – (26,760,502)

Balance as at 
 31 December 2010 – 15,122,262 1,199,817 1,265,165 667,497 18,254,741
additions – – 7,059 156,170 – 163,229
Disposals – – (22,596) – – (22,596)
Written off – – (3,779) (40,592) – (44,371)

Balance as at 
 31 December 2011 – 15,122,262 1,180,501 1,380,743 667,497 18,351,003

Accumulated
 depreciation
Balance as at 
 1 January 2010 – 2,588,425 911,549 1,114,062 621,424 5,235,460
Depreciation charge  
 for the year (Note 10) – 302,445 240,814 205,129 88,486 836,874
Disposals* – – (374,457) (344,952) (176,328) (895,737)
Written off – – (16,724) (6,040) (6,519) (29,283)
reclassified to investment
 property (Note 12) – (1,580,280) – – – (1,580,280)

Balance as at 
 31 December 2010 – 1,310,590 761,182 968,199 527,063 3,567,034
Depreciation charge  
 for the year (Note 10) – 302,445 182,423 190,305 79,378 754,551
Disposals – – (18,062) – – (18,062)
Written off – – (3,779) (39,772) – (43,551)

Balance as at 
 31 December 2011 – 1,613,035 921,764 1,118,732 606,441 4,259,972

carrying amount
Balance as at 
 31 December 2010 – 13,811,672 438,635 296,966 140,434 14,687,707
Balance as at 
 31 December 2011 – 13,509,227 258,737 262,011 61,056 14,091,031

  *   Included in the disposals were the transfer of assets to its fully owned subsidiary SAA GE at cost of $1,444,860, accumulated depreciation of $872,223 
and net book value of $572,637. 
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11 property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Institute (cont’d)

 assets held under finance leases 

 the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held under finance leases as at 31 December 2011 is $Nil (2010: 
$89,631). Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities (Note 19).

 In accordance with the Constitution of the Institute, the freehold land and freehold buildings were transferred to Institute of 
Certified public accountants of Singapore pte Ltd which holds the freehold land and freehold buildings in trust for the Institute.

  location

Freehold properties i) Cpa House
  20 aljunied road
  Singapore 389805
  Consisting of 5 floors
  (Units #01-01, #01-03, #01-04, #01-05, #01-06, 
  #02-01, #02-02, #04-01, #04-02, #05-01, #05-02, 
  #06-01 and #06-02) and totalling 2,779 sq. meters
 
 ii) 6 raffles Quay
  #23-00 
  Singapore 048580

12 Investment property

Institute

2011 2010

$ $ 
cost
at beginning of year 26,760,502 –
reclassified from property, plant and equipment (Note 11) – 26,760,502
at end of year 26,760,502 26,760,502

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
at beginning of year 10,120,897 –
reclassified from property, plant and equipment (Note 11) – 1,580,280
Depreciation charge (Note 10) 131,690 131,690
(Write-back of impairment loss)/impairment loss (Note 10) (2,603,092) 8,408,927
at end of year 7,649,495 10,120,897

carrying amount 19,111,007 16,639,605

 Since the previous financial year, the Institute has leased out its freehold properties at Cpa House to its subsidiary. Consequently, 
the Institute has reclassified its freehold properties from property, plant and equipment to investment property in 2010.

 In 2010, the fair value of the investment property at the balance sheet date as determined by independent professional valuer 
was $16,893,000 using the Market Data approach at the balance sheet date. as the recoverable amount in 2010 was lower than 
its carrying amount, an impairment loss of $8,408,297 was made. 

 In current year, the fair value of the investment property at the balance sheet date based on the desktop update of valuation 
as determined by the independent valuer is $21,589,000 using the Market Data approach at the balance sheet date. as the 
recoverable amount in current year is higher than its carrying amount, a write-back of impairment loss of $2,603,092 is made.



66  BUILDING ON FIRM FOUNDATIONs  aNNUaL repOrt 2011/2012

nOtes tO tHe financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

12 Investment property (cont’d)

 the following amounts are recognised in profit or loss:

Institute

2011 2010

$ $ 

rental income 1,350,078 1,173,748
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties
 that generated rental income (210,401) (211,443)
Depreciation charge (131,690) (131,690)

13 subsidiaries and intra-group transactions

a)  Investment in subsidiaries

Institute

2011 2010

$ $ 

Unquoted equity shares, at cost
at beginning of year 300,003 3
addition for the year – 300,000
at end of year 300,003 300,003

b) Details of subsidiaries are as follows:

effective interest held
by the Group

Name of subsidiaries Country of incorporation 2011 2010
% %

association of taxation 
 technicians (S) Limited*

Singapore 100 100

Certified accounting
 technicians (Singapore) Ltd*

Singapore 100 100

Institute of Certified public
 accountants of Singapore
 pte Ltd (“ICpaS pL”)

Singapore 100 100

Saa Global education Centre pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
Singapore Institute of
 accredited tax professionals Limited*

Singapore 100 100

   *  There is no cost of investment as the subsidiaries are companies limited by guarantee whereby the Institute undertakes to contribute to meet the debts 
and liabilities of these subsidiaries in the event of its liquidation to an amount not exceeding $10. These subsidiaries are deemed to be wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Institute as Council Members of the Institute have direct control over these subsidiaries.
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13 subsidiaries and intra-group transactions (cont’d)

c) Intra-group transactions

 During the financial year, the Institute has the following significant transactions with the subsidiaries and associates on 
terms agreed between the parties:

Institute

2011 2010

$ $ 

Subscription of journals 27,196 28,262
Management fee income 948,031 851,105
rental income 1,397,478 1,090,398
rental expenses 172,832 146,830
Share of conference income 10,881 –

14 Investment in associates

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Investment in associates 95,425 88,215 –* –*

group

2011 2010

$ $ 

share of profits
at beginning of year 88,215 100,982
Share of profits/(losses) 7,210 (12,767)
at end of year 95,425 88,215

 Details of associates are as follows:

effective interest held
by the Group

Name of associates Country of incorporation 2011 2010
% %

Insolvency practitioners
  association of Singapore Limited

Singapore 50 50

Singapore Institute of taxation Limited Singapore 33 33

 *  There is no cost of investment as the associates are companies limited by guarantee whereby every member of the company undertakes to contribute to meet 
the debts and liabilities of the company in the event of its liquidation to an amount not exceeding $10.
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14 Investment in associates (cont’d)

 the summarised financial information of the associates not adjusted for the proportion ownership interest held by the Group is 
as follows:

2011 2010

$ $ 

Assets and liabilities
Current assets 213,742 256,239
Current liabilities 24,709 77,567

Results
revenue 37,108 24,325
profit/(loss) after taxation 10,361 (43,295)

 During the financial year, the Institute has the following transaction with an associate on the terms agreed between the parties:

2011 2010

$ $ 

Management fee income 6,800 6,800

15 Deferred tax 

2011 2010

$ $ 

group
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) comprises tax effect of
  temporary differences arising from:
accelerated tax depreciation (149,811) (79,491)
provision for bonus 184,655 81,900
provision for unutilised annual leave 59,227 32,306
Others 24,929 –

119,000 34,715

representing:
Non-current
Deferred tax assets 142,000 34,715
Deferred tax liabilities (23,000) –

119,000 34,715



BUILDING ON FIRM FOUNDATIONs  aNNUaL repOrt 2011/2012   69

nOtes tO tHe financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

15 Deferred tax (cont’d)
2011 2010

$ $

Institute
Deferred tax assets comprises tax effect of
 temporary differences arising from:
accelerated tax depreciation (56,222) (79,491)
provision for bonus 132,447 81,900
provision for unutilised annual leave 40,431 32,306
Others 25,344 –

142,000 34,715

representing:
Non-current
Deferred tax assets 142,000 34,715

16 Intangible assets

 group

Intellectual Computer
property software total

$ $ $

cost
Balance as at 1 January 2010 – – –
additions 19,388 – 19,388

Balance as at 31 December 2010 19,388 – 19,388
additions – 495,690 495,690

Balance as at 31 December 2011 19,388 495,690 515,078

Accumulated amortisation
Balance as at 1 January 2010 – – –
amortisation charge for the year 2,154 – 2,154

Balance as at 31 December 2010 2,154 – 2,154
amortisation charge for the year 6,463 14,881 21,344

Balance as at 31 December 2011 8,617 14,881 23,498

carrying amount
Balance as at 31 December 2010 17,234 – 17,234
Balance as at 31 December 2011 10,771 480,809 491,580
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16 Intangible assets (cont’d)

 Institute

Intellectual Computer
property software total

$ $ $

cost
Balance as at 1 January 2010 – – –
additions 19,388 – 19,388

Balance as at 31 December 2010 19,388 – 19,388
additions – 129,300 129,300

Balance as at 31 December 2011 19,388 129,300 148,688

Accumulated amortisation
Balance as at 1 January 2010 – – –
amortisation charge for the year 2,154 – 2,154

Balance as at 31 December 2010 2,154 – 2,154
amortisation charge for the year 6,463 6,157 12,620

Balance as at 31 December 2011 8,617 6,157 14,774

carrying amount
Balance as at 31 December 2010 17,234 – 17,234
Balance as at 31 December 2011 10,771 123,143 133,914

17 Trade and other receivables

group Institute
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

trade receivables 605,000 590,955 449,944 460,952
amount due from (trade)
 - subsidiaries – – 703,472 431,088
 - associate – 7,276 – 7,276
accrued practice review fee receivable 185,040 83,620 185,040 83,620
Deposits 189,406 186,206 188,006 184,806
Interest receivable 15,958 3,213 9,580 1,704
Others 9,476 28,271 9,206 25,091
prepayments 308,581 746,050 240,656 321,926

1,313,461 1,645,591 1,785,904 1,516,463

trade receivables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are generally on immediate to about 6 months’ terms.
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18 cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and fixed deposits.

group Institute
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Interest bearing accounts 10,917,626 7,340,272 5,222,796 6,353,295
Non-interest bearing accounts 6,173,750 6,511,445 2,210,284 1,337,907

17,091,376 13,851,717 7,433,080 7,691,202
Less: Fixed deposit pledged (15,067) (15,000) – –

as per statements of cash flows 17,076,309 13,836,717 7,433,080 7,691,202

 Included in interest bearing accounts of the Group and Institute are fixed deposits totaling $9,928,543 (2010: $4,843,354) and 
$4,233,713 (2010: $3,856,377) respectively which are placed for varying periods of between 1 to 12 months (2010: 1 to 12 
months) depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and the Institute and earn interest of 0.1875% to 0.85% 
(2010: 0.1875% to 1%) per annum. Fixed deposit of $15,067 (2010: $15,000) are pledged to banker for banking facilities.

19 Finance lease liabilities

 group & Institute
Minimum lease

payments
present value
of payments

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Within one year – 101,331 – 97,560
after one year but not more than five years – 1,940 – 1,876

total minimum lease payments – 103,271 – 99,436
Less: Finance charges – (3,835) – –
present value of minimum lease payments – 99,436 – 99,436

 these finance lease liabilities were secured by a charge over leased assets (Note 11).

20 Trade and other payables

group Institute
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

trade payables 1,541,610 1,385,361 1,121,100 864,729
amount due to (non-trade)
 - subsidiary – – 2,957 1,214,858
 - associate 3,605 – 3,605 –
accrued operating expenses 3,223,976 1,689,233 2,451,207 1,071,921

4,769,191 3,074,594 3,578,869 3,151,508

 trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day term.

 amount due to a subsidiary and associate are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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21 Miscellaneous fund

Community Service project Fund

 the fund is made up of donations from members, money from fund-raising projects and contributions from the Institute.  It is 
used for the Institute’s community service projects and is made up as follows:

group & Institute
2011 2010

$ $

at beginning of year 32,798 22,370
add: Donations from members 21,509 14,128
Less: Community service projects funded during the year – (3,700)
Net surplus for the year 21,509 10,428
at end of year 54,307 32,798

22 Key management personnel compensation

 Key management personnel compensation comprised:

group Institute
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Short-term employee benefits 1,292,873 1,190,049 923,468 898,832
CpF contribution 59,853 60,192 40,066 44,088

1,352,726 1,250,241 963,534 942,920

23 commitments

(i) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for as at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements is as 
follows:

group Institute
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Capital commitments in respect of property, 
 plant and equipment 264,260 809,300 264,260 770,350
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23 commitments (cont'd)

(ii) Operating lease commitments

 the Group leases an office under non-cancellable operating lease agreement.  

 Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease as at balance sheet date are as follows:

group Institute
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Within one year 777,027 658,053 441,806 483,053
after one year but within five years 309,499 525,818 109,532 525,818

 In year 2008, the Institute entered into a lease agreement for the use of property at No. 12 aljunied road, #03 and #04 
KH plaza, aljunied, Singapore, for a fixed monthly rental for a term of 4 years. 

24 Financial instruments

a) Categories of financial instruments

group Institute
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash  
 and cash equivalents) 18,096,256 14,751,258 8,978,328 8,885,739

Financial liabilities
amortised cost 4,417,781 2,905,183 3,341,038 3,060,886

b) Financial risk management

 the main risks arising from the Group’s financial management are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign 
currency risk. the Group reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

 Interest rate risk

 the Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing fixed deposits. 
the sensitivity analysis for changes in interest rate is not disclosed as the effect on profit or loss is considered not 
significant.

 Credit risk

 the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the failure of a customer or a counterparty to settle its financial and 
contractual obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due. the Group manages this risk by monitoring credit ratings 
and limiting the aggregate financial exposure to any individual counterparty.

 the Group places its cash and fixed deposits with banks and financial institutions which are regulated.
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24 Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management (cont’d)

 Credit risk (cont’d)

 the credit risk is as follows:

i) Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits with banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are 
substantially companies and individual with a good collection track record with the Group.

ii) Financial assets that are past due but not impaired

there is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade receivables.

the age analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

group Institute

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

past due 0 to 3 months 169,581 198,089 155,845 120,975
past due 3 to 6 months 80,344 112,224 57,574 65,954
past due over 6 months 355,075 280,642 236,525 274,023

605,000 590,955 449,944 460,952

 Liquidity risk

 In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and bank balances deemed 
adequate by the Management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

 the Group targets for available funds in the form of surplus liquidity and aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed and uncommitted credit lines available.

 the table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s and Institute’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.

Less than Between Between Over

1 year 1 & 2 years 2 & 5 years 5 years

$ $ $ $
group
At 31 December 2011
trade and other payables 4,417,781 – – –

At 31 December 2010
trade and other payables 2,805,747 – – –
Finance lease 101,331 1,940 – –

Institute
At 31 December 2011
trade and other payables 3,341,038 – – –

At 31 December 2010
trade and other payables 2,961,450 – – –
Finance lease 97,560 1,876 – –
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24 Financial instruments (cont’d)

b) Financial risk management (cont’d)

 Foreign currency risk

 the Group’s foreign currency risk results mainly from cash flows and transactions denominated in foreign currencies. It is 
the Group’s policy not to enter into derivative forward foreign exchange contracts for hedging and speculative purposes.

 the Group has no significant exposure in respect of financial assets and liabilities held in foreign currency.

c) Fair value

 the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including trade and other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other payables) are assumed to approximate their fair values 
because of the short period to maturity.

25 Fund management

 the Institute’s objectives when managing its funds are to safeguard its ability to maintain adequate working capital to continue 
as going concern, to promote its objective to lead, develop and support accountancy professionals in Singapore and uphold the 
public interest and these objectives remain unchanged from previous year.

26 subsequent event

 Subsequent to the financial year, members’ annual fee were increased in view of the ICpaS’s future needs in aligning the Institute 
to the CDaS recommendation mentioned in Note 8, as well as maintaining economic viability for the Institute.

27 Authorisation of financial statements

 the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the financial statements of the Institute for the financial year ended 31 
December 2011 were authorised for issue by the Council on 23 February 2012.
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nOtice Of annUal GeneRal meetinG

Notice is hereby given that in accordance with article 77 of the Constitution of the Institute, the annual General Meeting 2011/2012 of 
the Institute of Certified public accountants of Singapore will be held on Saturday, 28 april 2012 at 2.00 pm, at Marina Mandarin, Marina 
Mandarin Ballroom, Level 1, 6 raffles Boulevard, Marina Square, Singapore 039594.

AgeNDA

1. president’s address.

2. to confirm the minutes of the annual General Meeting 2010/2011 and the minutes of the extraordinary General Meeting 
2011 of Members held on 16 april 2011 and 27 august 2011 respectively.

3. to receive the report of the Council for the year 2011/2012 and accounts of the Institute for the year ended 31 December 
2011.

4. to elect eight members to the Council in accordance with article 32 comprising:

 (a) at least three Cpas Singapore who are public accountants to hold office for a term of two years;

 (b) at least three Cpas Singapore who are not public accountants to hold office for a term of two years.

the following members of the Council shall retire in accordance with the provisions of articles 48 to 50 of the Constitution:

Nominations have been received for the following:

cpAs singapore who are public Accountants cpAs singapore who are not public Accountants

ernest Kan Yaw Kiong ramasamy Dhinakaran

Khoo Ho tong Gerard ee Hock Kim

Lim Boon Cheng Jeann Low Ngiap Jong 

Yeoh Oon Jin Frances Wong Lai Yong

cpAs singapore who are public Accountants Nominated by

Frankie Chia Soo Hien peter Leong Hon Mun

Lew Wan Ming

William Ng Wee Liang

pang Loong Heng

Yeo ek Khuan

Michael Chin Sek peng Sajjad akhtar

Chua Wei tsong

Goh Bun Hiong

Lee eng Kian

pong Siew Inn

ernest Kan Yaw Kiong Cheung pui Yuen

Chaly Mah Chee Kheong

ajit Chandrashekar prabhu

tan Hun tong

philip Yuen ewe Jin
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5. to re-appoint Messrs Baker tilly tFW LLp as auditors of the Institute for the financial year ending 31 December 2012 
and to authorize the Council to fix their remuneration.

By order of the Council

Janet tan
Secretary
2 april 2012

cpAs singapore who are not public Accountants Nominated by

Genevieve Chua Kwee Huay Hamish alexander Christie

ewe pang Kooi

Mirza Iskander Namazie

Nina tan

Iyer Venkatachalam Venkiteswaran

ramasamy Dhinakaran Koh Swee tian

Lee Cheau Jen

eugene Lim

David phua puay Heng

thanabalan Ladamuthu

Lim Boon Seng Fok Sooi Khum

Koh Kong Min

Kong pak Fee

Helen Lee Lai Ken

Christine Lim Che Howah

Jeann Low Ngiap Jong Fang Fang

Ng Hwee Gee

pang Yee Shan

tan Yong Choo

Yuen May Yin

cpAs singapore who are public Accountants Nominated by

Yeoh Oon Jin Choo eng Beng

Quek Bin Hwee

Sim Hwee Cher

theresa Sim

tham tuck Seng



BUILDING ON FIRM FOUNDATIONs  aNNUaL repOrt 2011/2012   79

minUtes Of tHe annUal GeneRal meetinG 2010/2011

Date:  Saturday, 16 april 2011
time:  2.05pm
Venue:  Marina Mandarin Ballroom

TOTAl NUMbeR OF MeMbeRs pReseNT

practising members: 53
Non-practising members: 325
provisional members: 35

 413

Chairman and president:  Dr ernest Kan
Secretary:    Ms Janet tan

1. NOTIce OF MeeTINg

the notice of meeting, having been circulated to members before the meeting, was taken as read. 

2. pResIDeNT’s ADDRess

the Chairman welcomed all members present at the Institute’s annual General Meeting, and proceeded to give an account of the 
Institute’s achievements over the past 12 months. 

Guided by the three-year aIM Strategic plan put in place in 2009, the Institute had made considerable advancement in the areas of 
accountancy excellence, Industry growth and Member & human capital development. 

ICpaS experienced an unprecedented membership growth rate of 8.5 percent in 2010, representing the highest growth in ICpaS’ 
history. In 2010, the Institute’s membership base surpassed the 22,000th mark in May and crossed the 23,000th mark in October. as 
at april 2011, ICpaS has more than 23,500 members. the significant growth in membership was encouraging and affirmed that the 
Institute was moving in the right direction. It showed the Cpa Singapore designation was valued by the accountancy profession and the 
business community, and that the profession appreciated the benefits and recognition that came with an ICpaS membership. 

With the Government’s plan to develop Singapore into a global accountancy hub by 2020, substantial changes were set to take place. to 
keep the profession informed of impending developments, the Institute organised the inaugural Singapore accountancy Convention at 
the Marina Bay Sands expo & Convention Centre, on 2 November 2010. the convention’s theme, “a profession on the Move”, depicted 
the realities of today’s world, where constant change and globalisation presented an urgent need for the profession to stay updated. 

the Institute was honoured to have Mrs Lim Hwee Hua, Minister in the prime Minister’s Office and Second Minister for Finance and 
transport, as the convention’s Guest of Honour and ICpaS adviser, Mr teo Ser Luck, as the Gala Dinner’s Guest of Honour. 

the Convention garner a distinguished lineup of speakers and panellists which included representatives from the International Federation 
of accountants, International accounting education Standards Board, International ethics Standards Board for accountants, Institute 
of Chartered accountants in england and Wales, and Institute of Chartered accountants of India. Local leaders in the accountancy 
profession and business community also gave their expert views, including Mr Bobby Chin, Chairman of the pro-tem Singapore 
accountancy Council. More than 1,200 participants attended the Singapore accountancy Convention and Gala Dinner, making it the 
Institute’s largest and most successful event to date.

Before the aGM proceedings, the Institute unveiled its revamped corporate website, new Cpe microsite and the new ICpaSjobs portal. 
these online offerings were designed to help members succeed by providing up-to-date information at a click, and complement the 
online knowledge centres launched at the last aGM. Since the last aGM, the Institute had also rolled out a fifth online knowledge centre 
– ICpaS Centre for auditing & assurance.

the Institute introduced new schemes to boost members’ capabilities. the public practice programme, rolled out in august 2010, had 
been catering to aspiring public accountants, enabling them to understand the business considerations, firm management, ethical 
considerations and the regulatory environment of running their own practice. 
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the Singapore Institute of accredited tax professionals (SIatp), launched in May 2010 to enhance the competence of tax practitioners, 
had received close to 2,000 applications. Since its inception, SIatp had jointly organised a workshop on managing GSt risks with 
tax academy, sponsored the first student-organised national tax competition and launched taxlogue, a quarterly e-newsletter for 
members. 

as part of the MOU with ICaeW in January this year, the Institute is partnering ICaeW to offer a bespoke programme for Non-executive 
Directors in Singapore. the programme aimed to equip existing and aspiring Non-executive Directors with the latest international best 
practices and regulatory requirements specific to Singapore.

the members’ journal, revamped and renamed Cpa Singapore since July 2010, has received higher approval ratings on all fronts in the 
latest readership survey. the journal received further endorsement from an independent source, being voted 2nd in the “Local Business 
Magazine of the Year” category in the 2011 Magazine rankings Study. the study was conducted by research firm Boardroom research 
and published in Marketing magazine in early april 2011. 

this was encouraging news, particularly to the Cpa Singapore journal’s editorial advisory panel. the third-party recognition re-affirmed 
that the advisory panel was on the right track for the editorial direction set for the revamped journal.

the Institute’s advertising campaign communicating the key message “every success needs a catalyst. accelerate/ elevate your career 
with Cpa Singapore” boosted Cpa Singapore’s profile with print, outdoor and Facebook ads running from September to December 
2010. 

Increased media coverage on the Institute and its initiatives also helped to strengthen its share of voice significantly. In 2010, the Institute 
received more than double the number of media hits in 2009, which was in turn double those of 2008. the Institute’s collaboration with 
the Straits times on a monthly column continued to give a sustained media presence in the nation’s flagship newspaper. 

the Institute also intensified digital communications efforts on Facebook, Youtube, twitter, Flickr and Cpa Singapore blog. 

to grow to be a global accountancy body, it is important for the Institute to grow its profile on the international stage as well as build 
strong ties with international counterparts.

the Chairman shared that at the last World Congress of accountants (WCOa) in November 2010, he represented the Institute as a 
panel speaker on the topic of “a Globally Integrated enterprise – Business without Borders”. Mr John teo, a member of our auditing 
and assurance Standards Committee, was on the panel discussion for “Corporate reporting to Business reporting – the Way Forward”. 
at WCOa, the leadership and management team also took the opportunity to meet with the leaders from other accountancy bodies 
including ICaeW, HKICpa and aCCa, as well as IFaC and the World Bank. 

the Institute hosted the International Innovation Network (IIN) Singapore Conference at City Campus. the conference brought together 
foreign delegates from a worldwide network of major accountancy bodies. Having joined the IIN network only in 2009, the Institute was 
honoured to host the conference as it showed the high regard ICpaS had among IIN members. the conference was also an opportunity 
for delegates to gain a better understanding of the Institute and its developments. the Institute was also able to explore opportunities for 
collaboration with the member bodies regarding innovative services and products for members. 

the Institute also hosted 25 international delegates, representing the professional accountancy Organisation Development Committee 
(paODC) of the IFaC, during a two-day conference in Singapore. the delegates discussed initiatives to support the development of the 
accountancy profession in developing nations. During the conference, the Institute shared with the delegates the Singapore Government’s 
plans for the accountancy sector, as well as the Institute’s role in developing the profession. 

throughout the year, the Institute held seminars and technical programmes supporting the key pillars of thought Leadership, practice 
Leadership, professional Development and practice Development to enhance members’ skills and competencies, provide thought 
leadership and facilitate business networking. the Institute collaborated with the accounting Standards Council to run a series of 
seminars on “SFrS for Small entities”. the Institute’s Clarity project 2010 roadmap on Singapore Standards on auditing (SSas) helped 
members and companies to understand the Clarified SSas. Other key events included the Seminar on Observations by the Financial 
Statements review Committee, ICpaS Quality assurance Forum, pMp Forum and Budget 2010 and Budget 2011 seminars. 

recently, the Institute released the revised audit Manual for Small Companies. the revised manual consisted of guidance notes and 
audit programmes updated to address the requirements of the clarified Singapore Standards on auditing. the manual would be a useful 
tool for SMp practitioners, enabling them to carry out their audits in compliance with the SSa requirements.

the Institute expanded its Continuing professional education (Cpe) offerings, aimed at upgrading the skills of accountants in a changing 
environment. It carried a thorough review of the Cpe offerings, looking into relevance, breadth, width, competency mapping as well as 
value for money. this resulted in a significant increase in the attendance of the Institute’s Cpe programmes. In 2010, the number of 

minUtes Of tHe annUal GeneRal meetinG 2010/2011



BUILDING ON FIRM FOUNDATIONs  aNNUaL repOrt 2011/2012   81

Cpe hours awarded increased by 30 percent. Such encouraging growth signaled that the new and enhanced Cpe courses were well 
received.

the Institute continued to be the voice of the profession, regularly submitting comment letters to regulators and standard-setters. the 
letters were a compilation of views and insights of members and technical committees, and provided feedback on proposed regulations 
and standards. It also held regular dialogue sessions with government stakeholders to provide feedback on accountancy issues. 

the Institute has been championing accounting research. In June 2010, ICpaS research launched a research grant providing initial 
funding for leading global academics and researchers. By December 2010, ICpaS research had funded five research contracts in the 
areas of Corporate assets exchange in China, fraud responses in Singapore, fair value accounting and XBrL reporting. ICpaS research 
has also been conducting surveys that provided insights on issues related to accounting and business. 

the Institute inked an MOU with Singapore Management University’s School of accountancy research to collaborate on a number of 
research initiatives. among them was a poll to tap business leaders’ pulse on the industry and on the economy. 

the Institute is poised to take on a broader role. the Institute is working closely with the pro-tem Singapore accountancy Council (pro-
tem SaC) to carry out some of the CDaS recommendations, especially with regard to the development of a post-university professional 
accountancy qualification programme. the Institute set up a Qualification and programme Development division that works closely 
with stakeholders including aCra, universities, Cpa firms and employers in the development and implementation of the proposed 
programme, under the oversight of the pro-tem SaC. transitional provisions would be worked out in due course.

Stemming from the CDaS recommendation for ICpaS to transform into a global professional accountancy body, the Institute was in the 
process of reviewing its constitution. Since March 2010, the Institute began to lay the groundwork by benchmarking ICpaS’ constitution 
against the charters/ constitutions of international and local professional bodies. possible changes to the Constitution had been identified, 
with particular focus on Council composition, election and tenure of Council members and office bearers, appointment of a Nominations 
Committee and an audit Committee, as well as the process of appointment of the auditor. 

In line with good governance practices, the Institute had been reviewing the current governance framework. the Institute might be 
looking into setting the tenure of Council Members for a specific period, and limiting the number of terms they could serve, to foster 
leadership renewal. the Institute was also exploring the idea of a panel of advisers, separate from the Council, comprising senior fellows 
and past presidents, to offer advice on specific subjects. 

the Institute also consulted key stakeholders on the changes to be made to the Constitution. the consultation included interviews with 
regulatory agencies, managing partners of Big Four and mid-tier firms as well as focus group sessions with various segments of ICpaS 
members. 

the full set of proposed changes to the Constitution was targeted to be put to members for approval within the next six months.

Leadership renewal is an important strategic component for any organisation that aims to build a sustainable future. the leadership 
team at ICpaS has the responsibility to members to ensure that the Institute continues to grow. It is the leadership team’s duty to ensure 
that while they give their best to serving the profession, the Institute also attracts and grooms leaders of the next generation to bring 
ICpaS to the next level. With three incoming Council Members this aGM, the Institute would have five Council Members replacing some 
of the long-serving Council Members who retired. as such, close to one-third of the Council are new leaders, representing progress in 
leadership renewal. 

ICpaS had reviewed its membership fee structure. the review arose from many factors. ICpaS had not adjusted its membership 
subscription fees since 1985, despite increasing operating costs over the years. Membership subscription fees had not been sufficient 
to cover operating costs, and every year, the Institute relies substantially on the revenue from its training arm, Saa Global education 
(Saa-Ge) to avoid running a deficit.

With the Institute expects to take on a broader role as Singapore transforms into a global accountancy hub, more resources would be 
needed to grow the capabilities and infrastructure. to ensure the Institute has an adequate funding mechanism for growth, the Institute 
was looking into adjustments to the current membership fee structure. the Institute was looking into this matter carefully, taking into 
account members’ concerns as well as the developmental needs of the Institute and the accountancy profession. 

the Chairman asked for members’ continued support as the Institute sought to invest in the Institute’s growth, so that ICpaS could 
contribute more to members’ professional growth. 

the Chairman indicated that the Institute had done well in 2010 and expressed his gratitude to ICpaS adviser, Council Members, 
committee members, the management and staff for their hard work and commitment and concluded his address by thanking members 
for their invaluable support.

minUtes Of tHe annUal GeneRal meetinG 2010/2011



82  BUILDING ON FIRM FOUNDATIONs  aNNUaL repOrt 2011/2012

3. cONFIRMATION OF The MINUTes OF The ANNUAl geNeRAl MeeTINg 2009/2010

3.1 the minutes of the annual General Meeting (aGM) 2009/2010 held on 17 april 2010, having been circulated to all 
members, were taken as read.

3.2 On the proposal of Mr andrew Kuan and as seconded by Ms Lorina Law, the minutes of aGM 2009/2010 were 
approved.

3.3 the Chairman then polled the members present on the confirmation of the minutes. From the poll results, the Chairman 
declared that the minutes had been confirmed. 

4. ANNUAl RepORT AND AccOUNTs 2010/2011

4.1 the Chairman referred the members to the annual report (report) of the Council for the year 2010/2011 and the 
accounts for the Institute for the year ended 31 December 2010 and invited comments from the members present. the 
Chairman added that as the annual report had been previously circulated to members, it would be considered as read. 

4.2 Mr tan See peng enquired about the rate of participation for the scheme stemming from the Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) with people’s association (pa) to facilitate ICpaS members to volunteer with pa’s grassroots organisations (GrOs). 
He also commented that ICpaS’ membership had a female-to-male ratio of 2:1 and suggested that there should be more 
female members on the Council.

 the Chairman thanked Mr tan for his comments and encouraged interested members to step forward. He mentioned 
there were five female Council members, making up almost 1/3 of the Council. He responded that the Institute had set up 
a registration process for members to sign up in response to the ICpaS-pa MOU and have received 120 applications, of 
which pa had already placed 54 members at various GrOs. He shared that pa had also appointed ICpaS as a corporate 
member, and the Institute continued to appeal to members to volunteer their expertise.

4.3 the Chairman invited ICpaS Chief Operating Officer (COO) Benjamin Cheam to present the issue of the impairment 
of Cpa House, before the accounts were put forward for members’ questions. Mr Cheam explained that currently the 
Institute owned two properties at Cpa House and 6 raffles Quay. the Institute occupied about 30,000 square feet in 
Cpa House where the main operations of the Institute and Saa-Ge are located. the property at 6 raffles Quay housed 
Member Services Department and was used for Cpe courses. as at 31 December 2010, the combined market value of 
the two properties yielded a net gain of S$1.4 million. However, the accounting policy adopted required the Institute to 
take in the loss and not the gain, as reflected in the financial statements. 

 the treasurer added that under the Institute’s accounting policy, the two properties were fixed assets. the Institute’s 
accounting policy, for many years, had been to state them at cost unless there was a permanent impairment in value. the 
accounting policy did not allow for the properties to be looked upon on a portfolio basis but as individual properties. For 
the property with a valuation gain (6 raffles Quay), the Institute was not allowed to take in the gain but to state its value 
at cost. However, when there was an impairment which might be permanent (as in the case of Cpa House), the Institute, 
on grounds of prudence, should take it down to its realisable value. It was not a cash flow entry but it affected the profit 
and Loss statement. 

4.4 Non-practising member, Mr andrew Kuan referred to page 46 and enquired about the increase in operating expenses 
from S$5.9 million to S$15.5 million.

 In response, the treasurer referred members to page 47, where operating expenses went from about S$16.23 million to 
about S$28.4 million, an increase of about S$12 million on a group basis. the majority of the increase was due to the 
S$8.4 million of impairment charges. Of the remaining S$3.6 million, S$1.8 million was due to increase in manpower 
cost at ICpaS, Saa-Ge and SIatp, to provide more relevant services and support to the Institute’s growing membership. 
S$400,000 arose from the increased frequency of the Institute’s journal Cpa Singapore, from bi-monthly to monthly. to 
raise the Institute’s professional image, marketing and promotion expenditure was increased by S$350,000. Net cash 
outflow for Singapore accountancy Convention was S$150,000. Due to the private education act which required Saa-
Ge to reduce class sizes, Saa-Ge needed to rent additional space to cope with the cohort, which cost S$600,000. the 
treasurer assured members that the Institute was mindful of the cost increase but the decisions were made after careful 
consideration among the eXCO in order to be more relevant and provide more services for members. He added that some 
costs would continue to increase in order to provide better services to members and to uplift the profession even more. 
the treasurer assured members that current cash flow was healthy.
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4.5 Mr andrew Kuan referred to line item property, plant and equipment (ppe) on page 48 where there was an increase in 
valuation and enquired if it was a property valuation or re-valuation.

 the treasurer explained it was the same after the impairment charge. at the Institute level, the property at Cpa House 
was classified as investment property as the Institute leased the property to its subsidiary, and not for the Institute’s own 
use. at the group level, it was reclassified back to ppe because it was fixed assets used for the group’s business.

4.6 Mr ramchand Jagtiani, practising member, suggested that the annual report should include a commentary on financial 
performance and position of the Institute in the president’s address going forward, similar to listed companies. 

 the Chairman thanked him for the suggestion and said the Institute would look into it. He added that with the Constitution 
review, the Institute would build a stronger secretariat. In many listed companies, the chief executive or managing 
director would make such statements. Going forward, that could be one option as the Institute looked at how to report 
its performance. there could possibly be separate reports from the Nominations Committee or audit Committee, for 
example. 

4.7 Ms Chan ee Wang, Yvonne enquired about the reasons for the impairment and whether there were intentions to put Cpa 
House for sale en bloc. 

 the treasurer replied that it depended on the market value versus the carrying cost. the market value versus the current 
net book value was $8.4 million below carrying value after an estimate of selling cost. the Institute also looked at the value 
in use which would take an estimated 18 to 23 years to break even. the Institute was also considering if operations should 
be located at Cpa House or be moved out in the next few years. therefore the Council felt it was prudent, and true and 
fair to have an impairment charge.

4.8 Ms Chan ee Wang, Yvonne commented it was hard to believe that the value dropped so significantly when property prices 
were on the rise.

 the treasurer explained that when he was first made aware of the impairment cost during the initial desk-top valuation, he 
had asked for a full site valuation to be certain, and he further asked for a full site valuation from another firm to reconfirm 
the first valuation. the difference in valuation was just a few percent. 

4.9 Mr aaron Quek Siau Leng, non-practising member, enquired if there would be a new professional body issuing the new 
professional accountancy qualification and how it would affect ICpaS. 

 the Chairman clarified if he was enquiring about the new qualification programme (Qp). He mentioned the Government’s 
Committee to Develop the accountancy Sector (CDaS) report stated that the Qp would be administered by the national 
accountancy body, ICpaS, under the oversight of the Singapore accountancy Council (SaC). the pro-tem SaC has set 
up a sub-committee to look into the development of the Qp and ICpaS is working closely with this sub-committee. 

4.10 Mr Mubarak Salim abdat, practising member, enquired about the main cause for the significant loss in value for Cpa 
House.

 the treasurer suggested that it could be because Cpa House was purchased at the height of the property market, shortly 
before the 1997 asian financial crisis. property prices declined sharply after that and the market had not recovered. He 
mentioned it was correct under accounting principles to take the value down as opposed to carrying an over-inflated 
value.

 Mr Mubarak asked if the location of the property could have influenced the value of the property. He suggested that 
moving to a different location, for example raffles Quay, might be better and a sub-committee could be set up to look 
into the matter.

 the Chairman replied that the Institute was looking into this matter.
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4.11 Mr Ng Yong Huan, member in retirement, asked that, as Cpa House was bought in 1997 during the peak of the property 
market, and the current property market had also peaked, would the value of the same location not be the same. 

 the treasurer replied that as the Institute has strata title, the most valuable area is the ground floor. the value was more 
than S$1,000 per square foot in 1997. However the price had not recovered to that value and was currently about S$800 
per square foot, based on sales in the vicinity. He emphasised that no decision had been made to sell the property. 
However, there had been discussions of relocation to enhance the image and professionalism of the Institute. therefore, 
it was prudent to provide the impairment.

4.12 as no further matters were raised, the annual report of the Institute 2010/2011 and the accounts of the Institute for the 
year ended 31 December 2010 were received by the meeting, as proposed by Mr tan See peng and seconded by Mr 
Jerry Lee Kian eng.

5. elecTION OF cOUNcIl MeMbeRs

5.1 the Chairman informed that the following members of the Council had retired in accordance with the provisions of 
articles 38 to 40 of the Constitution:

  pRAcTIsINg MeMbeRs  NON-pRAcTIsINg MeMbeRs
 Don Ho Mun-tuke   Quek Shi Kui
 Kon Yin tong    tan Boen eng
 Steven phan Swee Kim  tom Yee Lat Shing
 Sitoh Yih pin    Yim Kam May

5.2. as only four nominations each had been received in respect of the practising members and Non-practising members, the 
four practising members and four Non-practising members were deemed to be duly elected members of the Council for 
a two-year term as from the annual General Meeting in accordance with rule 23 of the ICpaS (General Meetings) rules. 
they are:

  pRAcTIsINg MeMbeRs  NON-pRAcTIsINg MeMbeRs
 peter Chay Fook Yuen   Ho tuck Chuen
 Don Ho Mun-tuke   Ho Yew Kee
 Steven phan Swee Kim  tan Boen eng
 Sitoh Yih pin    Yim Kam May

5.3 the Chairman thanked the three retiring Council Members, Mr Kon Yin tong, Mr Quek Shi Kui and Mr tom Yee Lat Shing 
for their valuable services and contributions to ICpaS.

6. TeRMINATION OF MeeTINg

In conclusion, the Chairman cited rules 5 and 6 of the ICpaS (General Meetings) rules, which provided that no motion shall be 
discussed at any annual General Meeting of the Institute unless the required notice of 14 days was given. as the secretary had not 
received any notice and all items on the agenda had been dealt with, the meeting was formally declared closed at 3.25 pm.

Signed as a correct record

Chairman
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minUtes Of tHe eXtRaORDinaRY GeneRal meetinG 

Date:  Saturday, 27 august 2011
time:  2.05pm
Venue:  pan pacific Singapore, pacific Ballroom

TOTAl NUMbeR OF MeMbeRs pReseNT

practising members:  24
Non-practising members: 231
provisional members: 36
 291

Chairman and president:  Dr ernest Kan
Secretary:    Ms Janet tan

1. NOTIce OF MeeTINg

the notice of meeting, having been circulated to members before the meeting, was taken as read. 

2. pResIDeNT’s ADDRess

the Chairman welcomed all members present at the Institute’s extraordinary general meeting, and proceeded to explain the purpose 
and significance of the meeting.

the Institute was seeking members’ consent on the proposed changes to ICpaS’ Constitution. It was the first time ICpaS was proposing 
changes to its Constitution, which fundamentally defines what ICpaS stands for and provides the principles by which the Institute would 
operate going forward.

the Chairman explained that the proposed amendments were aimed at propelling ICpaS onto the international arena, supporting its goal 
to be a professional accountancy body with a global outlook, membership and standing. this was one of the recommendations under the 
Singapore Government’s over-arching vision to make Singapore a global accountancy hub by 2020. He added that the changes would 
impact the Institute’s, the profession’s and the sector’s future development. 

the Chairman added that in conducting the review process, the Institute took a consultative and transparent approach, making sure that 
feedback was obtained from various stakeholder groups. the review process was facilitated by a third-party management consultant, 
Mr andrew Sng of DpI asia, to ensure independence. the process involved a series of interviews with the regulators, Big Four and Mid-
tier firms as well as focus group sessions with cross-sections of ICpaS’ membership base. a total of almost 20 meetings with various 
stakeholder groups were held over several months. these comprised four focus group sessions with different groups of members, five 
interview sessions with the Big Four and Mid-tier firms, separate meetings with respective government agencies prior to the issuance of 
the Consultation paper, and three town hall forums for members during the Consultation period. this was to ensure that the views of the 
Institute’s stakeholders were taken into consideration in the review process. 

In addition to the feedback sessions, the Institute also conducted research and comparative studies of the charter and constitution of 
leading accountancy bodies in major jurisdictions as well as the local professional bodies.

taking into account the feedback and findings, the proposed changes to the Constitution were presented for careful consideration by 
the ICpaS Council. In early June this year, ICpaS Council issued a Consultation paper on proposals to amend the ICpaS Constitution. 
the Institute received positive feedback, which in turn affirmed that the Institute was on the right track. to quote one example, prof 
Mak Yuen teen, associate professor of accounting at NUS, commented that the key amendments are “all positive and good proposals.” 

at the close of the consultation, ICpaS received responses from the government agencies, Big 4 firms, members and other interested 
parties. the collective feedback was then carefully reviewed by the ICpaS Council in a final round of deliberation, leading to the 
amendments. 

In putting forth the amendments, the Institute took into consideration best corporate governance practices and made revisions where 
appropriate. the Chairman said that while the amendments to the Constitution would normally take effect from the date of sanction by 
the registrar of Societies, the Institute was keen to be more robust in terms of its governance and in this light, decided to effect certain 
provisions retrospectively through transitional arrangements. Hence, there would be retrospective application of the cap on the tenure 
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for Council members due to retire at the aGMs to be held in 2012 and 2013. those who had served for more than three terms and were 
due to retire in 2012 would be eligible for re-election for a further term of two years. those who have served more than three terms and 
were due to retire in 2013 would step down. 

the Chairman said that moving forward, the Council intended to develop a governance framework, incorporating the proposed audit 
and Nominations Committees, complete with a Governance Manual setting out the leadership roles and management structure that 
embraced a stronger full-time executive management of the Institute. 

the Chairman took the opportunity to thank everyone who had contributed toward the review process. the Institute was able to complete 
this only with the hard work, assistance and support rendered. the Chairman thanked his fellow Council Members who gave their views 
and much of their time in rounds of discussion, the ICpaS Secretariat comprising executive Director Ms Janet tan and her team for 
conducting extensive research, comparative studies, and feedback analysis, and management consultant Mr andrew Sng for conducting 
the focus groups and stakeholder interviews. He further thanked members and other stakeholders who have given their time and effort 
to offer invaluable feedback, enabling the Institute to distil insights and produce the amendments.

the Chairman said that the Institute is preparing itself and the profession for the next phase of the accountancy sector’s development. 
ICpaS, as the national accountancy body, must evolve in tandem with the rapid changes of the globalised world and complex business 
environment. this is the best way for ICpaS to serve the needs of the profession and ensure that members continue to grow and develop 
relevant skills and capabilities for the changing world. 

He added that the next few years would be especially critical for ICpaS as the Institute moves into the next phase of expansion. the 
Institute needs to continue to build capabilities and boost infrastructure. the Institute needs to focus on putting in place processes and 
systems that are aligned with that of a professional accountancy body with a global membership, outlook and standing. and it needs to 
continue to work towards being a dynamic organisation that supports Singapore’s growth as a global accountancy hub.

the Chairman requested members to consider carefully the changes put before them, which would set the conditions that would create 
a strong success story for the Institute’s and the country’s future.

3. pReseNTATION OF sAlIeNT AMeNDMeNTs TO The IcpAs cONsTITUTION

executive Director, Ms Janet tan, presented to members the salient amendments to the ICpaS Constitution which covered areas such 
as Classes of Members, Composition and Mode of election of Council Members, Council Members’ tenure, Office Bearers’ tenure, 
appointment of audit Committee and Nominations Committee and transitional arrangements.

4. QUesTIONs AND cOMMeNTs ON The pROpOseD AMeNDMeNTs TO The IcpAs cONsTITUTION

4.1 the panel comprised of ICpaS president, Dr ernest Kan, ICpaS Vice-president, Mr Sitoh Yih pin, ICpaS treasurer, Mr 
Steven phan, ICpaS CeO-designate Dr tham Kah poh, ICpaS executive Director Ms Janet tan, DpI asia Management 
Consultant, Mr andrew Sng and Stamford Law Corporation Legal Counsel, Mr Ng Joo Khin was invited on stage. 

4.2 the Chairman commented that the review process took over a year, with consultations, focus groups, reviews, 
benchmarking and special Council meeting to deliberate the amendments. He hoped the members had perused the 
proposed amendments and were satisfied with it. He impressed upon the audience the significance of the voting process 
and how it would help the Institute move on to the next phase. He shared that in his interactions with members, he was 
happy to note that many members have expressed positive feedback that the Institute had made a lot of progress in 
the past few years. the constitutional review would allow the Institute to make another leap, and he sought members’ 
endorsement on the proposed amendments to the Institute’s Constitution. 

4.3 the Chairman said the Council had put forth a special resolution, that is, the Constitution of the Institute be amended in 
the manner and to the extent as set out in the appendix to the notice of the eGM dated 3 august 2011. 

4.4 the Chairman opened the floor to questions and views before voting commenced. 

4.5 Mr S Nallakaruppan, sincerely thanked the president, the Council and all task force members who had put in time and 
effort, and done a wonderful job. the Chairman thanked him for the encouragement.
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4.6 Ms Lee Choy Fong thought that the merging of practising and non-practising member into the same category of Cpa 
Singapore was a good idea. She enquired about the fees after the change.

4.7 the Chairman clarified that the meeting was not to review the subscription fee, which would be addressed separately. 
Instead, the meeting was on the amendments to the Institute’s constitution, and the circulated document did not mention 
subscription fee revision. 

4.8 Ms Ho Oi Khuen noted that as part of the progress, there was a trend towards using more full-time executive management, 
rather than having the Council manage the Institute’s day-to-day affairs. In this respect, she thought it was very good. She 
observed that the training academy of ICpaS is well-respected and recognised and has done much to train prospective 
Cpas from local and overseas. However in her limited interaction in the past with junior members of the staff, she felt 
that at times they could not answer certain questions and had to refer them to their managers, who might not have the 
information as well, and she eventually lost interest in the courses. She felt there could be better progress in terms of day 
to day management, especially in the selection of lecturers.

4.9 the president thanked her for the comment on the increasing shift towards full-time executive management. Her 
comment on Saa-Global education was good feedback and duly noted. He explained the Council had deliberated, in 
moving forward, one area of focus would be infrastructure investment and the Institute is beginning to move towards a 
different management structure. In the months to come, there would be gradual announcement of changes made to the 
Institute.

4.10 Ms Ng Foon Foon referred to page 16 of the eGM book, article number 20, and enquired about the number of continuing 
professional education (Cpe) hours required to renew membership.

4.11 the executive Director replied that it was 120 Cpe hours over a 3-year period. every year, the member had to fulfil at least 
20 structured hours, with coverage in ethics.

4.12 Mr Suresh Oliver Lakes referred to page 15, article 17, which stated that the Council shall have the power to admit to 
membership of the Institute any qualified member of good standing of any accountancy body outside of Singapore, 
provided that such authorising authority or accountancy body is one which is recognised by the Council. He enquired on 
the control of quality and standards, and whether members should decide, rather than solely the Council.

4.13 the Chairman noted that it was an important process and decision. In the governance structure, Council members are 
elected, thus effectively empowered by members. One of their duties is to look into important decisions of such nature. 
Within the Council, there are sub-committees, such as accreditation committee or membership committee, which would 
deliberate the issues fully before putting forth their recommendations to the Council for decision. He added that such 
issues were not taken lightly.

4.14 the treasurer added that the clause would only be used as an exception. Should the clause be exercised, he assured the 
audience that regular Cpas Singapore members would not be placed as second class. the candidates would be qualified 
and have met all membership requirements. In addition, having members of prominent standing would enhance the Cpa 
Singapore brand which would benefit the profession as well as individual members. 

4.15 as there were no further questions, the Chairman indicated that as this was an important resolution, instead of voting by a 
show of hands, a poll would be taken. two members, Mr Goh tcheng Hion and Mr Yee Fook Hong witnessed the counting 
of votes. 
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5. ResUlTs OF vOTINg

TOTAl NUMbeR OF vOTINg MeMbeRs pReseNT (INclUDINg pROxIes helD)  289
Number of votes “for” the resolution         259
Number of votes “against” the resolution        14
Number of votes rejected          9
Number of votes not submitted         7 

to amend the Constitution, a vote of 75% is needed. With 89.6% of votes supporting the amendments, the resolution is therefore 
carried. 

6. TeRMINATION OF MeeTINg

the meeting was formally declared closed at 3.30 pm.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman
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INsTITUTe OF ceRTIFIeD pUblIc AccOUNTANTs OF sINgApORe

20 aljunied road,  #06-02 Cpa House,  Singapore 389805   
tel: (65) 6749 8060   
Fax: (65) 6749 8061

ANNUAl geNeRAl MeeTINg lUNch

Lunch will be served at 12.45 pm, followed by the annual General Meeting at 2.00 pm.  to assist the Secretariat in the 
lunch arrangements, please return this reply form to the Institute by 20 April 2012.

I will be attending the aGM lunch on saturday, 28 April 2012, at 12.45 pm, at Marina Mandarin, Marina Mandarin 
ballroom, level 1, 6 raffles Boulevard, Marina Square, Singapore 039594.

Member’s Name (in block):

I/C Number:

Membership Category: *Honorary / Fellow / Cpa Singapore / associate / Member-in-retirement

Company:

Designation:

Contact Number:
(Mobile)    (Office)     (Home)

e-mail address:

(Confirmation of registration will be sent to this email address)

Date:

please tick if *Vegetarian/Muslim menu is required 

Note: the lunch menu will be ‘no pork, no lard’.

*please delete where inapplicable.

annUal GeneRal meetinG lUncH RePlY fORm

NB: to avoid unnecessary costs to the Institute, 
please inform the Secretariat at least 3 days 
before the function if you have registered but 
subsequently are unable to attend the aGM 
lunch.

Signature
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20 aLJUNIeD rOaD #06-02 Cpa HOUSe
SINGapOre 389805

sTAMp

Fold Here

Fold Here
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The scheDUle
rule 33

The INsTITUTe OF ceRTIFIeD pUblIc AccOUNTANTs
OF sINgApORe (geNeRAl MeeTINgs) RUles

I, ,

(Full Name in Block) (NrIC/passport Number)

of

(address)

being a member of the Institute, do hereby appoint:

Name address NrIC /passport Number

or failing him/her

Name address NrIC /passport Number

each of whom is a Cpa Singapore of ICpaS as my proxy to vote for me at the annual General Meeting of the Institute to be held 
on 28 april 2012 and any adjournment of such meeting.

Signature of member:

Dated this day of 2012

NOTES: A member entitled to vote may appoint as his proxy any other member who is entitled to vote except that no member shall be entitled to vote by
  proxy in the election of a member or members of the Council. [Rule 32, ICPAS (General Meetings) Rules]

  The proxy shall not be entitled to vote at a meeting unless the instrument of proxy has been deposited with the Chief Executive Officer not less
  than 48 hours before the date and time fixed for the meeting. [Rule 36, ICPAS (General Meetings) Rules]

fORm Of PROXY
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